



# Degree Programme Life Technologies

Major Biotechnology

# Bachelor's thesis Diploma 2016

# Zuber Boris

Isolation and characterization of sea urchin P.lividus microbiota from coelomic fluid

Professor Dr Sergio Schmid Expert Dr Anna Maria Puglia Submission data of the report

Submission date of the report cf. thesis form (DD.MM.YYYY)





This document is the original report written by the student. It wasn't corrected and may contain inaccuracies and errors.





Bachelor's Thesis | 2016 |

Degree programme Life Technologies

Field of application *Biotechnology* 

Supervising professors Dr SergioSchmid Sergio.Schmid@hevs.ch Dr Anna Maria Puglia a.maria.puglia@unipa.it

Partner Università degli studi di Palermo, STEBICEF Dpt, Scuola delle Scienze di base ed applicate.

# Isolation and characterization of sea urchin *P.lividus* microbiota from coelimic fluid

Graduate

Boris Zuber

#### Objectives

The identification of the microbiota present in the coelomic fluid of *Paracentrotus lividus* has been highlighted in order to understand the role of bacteria in the physiology, ecology and aquaculture activities of this echinoderm.

### Methods | Experiences | Results

The presence of bacteria into the coelomic fluid of the Mediterranean sea urchin *Paracentrotus lividus* has been explored. Two different methods of analysis, the culture-based and culture-independent investigations, are described. The dependent culture method based on the growth of bacteria on marine agar and DNA sequencing after the amplification of the 16S rRNA gene, reported a predominance of taxa belonging to *Proteobacteria* and *Bacteriodetes*. The analysis of the production of extracellular enzymes and antibacterial compounds has also been performed and reports that the isolated strains produced proteases, lipases and esterases. The independent culture method was performed by the sequencing by minION<sup>™</sup> technologies of the metagenomic DNA extracted from the coelomic fluid. This approach reported a predominance of taxa belonging to *Proteobacteria, Cyanobacteria, Fusobacteria, Thermodesulfobacteria, Ignavibacteria, Firmicutes* and *Tenericutes*. In addition, studies on interactions with marine microorganisms are providing additional tools to understand phenomena of symbiosis, development and morphogenesis.



Opened sea urchin. Five orangered gonads bath in the coelomic fluid.



Thesis realised in the Laboratory of Molecular Microbiology and Biotechnology of the STEBICEF Departement, University of Palermo





Σ π ≃ &

HES-SO Valais

Filière / Studiengang	Année académique / Studienjahr	No TD / Nr. DA
TEVI	2015/2016	bt\2016\27
Mandant / Auftraggeber	Etudiant <i>I Student</i> Zuber Boris	Lieu d'exécution / Ausführungsort
<ul> <li>Industrie</li> <li>Etablissement partenaire</li></ul>	Professeur / Dozent	<ul> <li>Industrie</li> <li>Etablissement partenaire</li></ul>
Partnerinstitution	Sergio Schmid	Partnerinstitution
Travail confidentiel / <i>vertrauliche Arbeit</i>	Expert / Experte (données complètes) Prof Anna Maria Puglia, Univers	ità degli Studi di Palermo

#### Titre / Titel

#### Isolation and characterization of sea urchin P.lividus microbiota from coelomic fluid

#### Description / Beschreibung

The study of the microbiota is a subject of considerable and growing interest since it is drawing new important perspectives in the life sciences concerning the functional relationships between metazoans and microbial cells. In fact, it has already shown that the endogenous microbial community affects various physiological activities of multicellular organisms.

The coelomic cavity of echinoderms contains a fluid in which coelomocytes are reported to exert immune functions like phagocytosis, opsonization and production of antimicrobial agents against marine bacteria. However, up to day nothing is known about the endogenous bacterial population of coelomic fluid. We focused on this issue, and, to this aim, both bacterial culture-dependent and -independent approaches were adopted. By the former approach, we isolated 8 distinct Gram-negative marine bacterial strains identified for their 16S rDNA sequence. Interestingly, almost all isolated strains show a considerable extracellular hydrolytic activity. Moreover, one of them exerts antimicrobial effect against Gram-negative bacteria, including most of the other strains isolated from the coelomic fluid. Finally, molecular investigation on metagenomic DNA composition confirmed culture-dependent results and give us more information about uncultured bacteria inside coelomic fluid.

This study not only suggests insights on functional interaction between sea urchin and marine microorganisms, but also could provide a novel source of biochemical diversity for the production of bioactive compounds and enzymes that can find biotechnological applications.

Signature ou visa / Unterschrift oder Visum	Délais / Termine
Responsable de l'orientation / filière Leiter der Vertiefungsrichtung / Studiengang:	Attribution du thème / Ausgabe des Auftrags: 02.05.2016 Fin des travaux de diplôme dans les laboratoires de l'école / Ende der Diplomarbeiten in den Labors der Schule :
<sup>1</sup> Etudiant / Student :	Remise du rapport / Abgabe des Schlussberichts: 28.10.2016
Duber	Expositions / Ausstellungen der Diplomarbeiten:
	Défense orale / <i>Mündliche Verfechtung:</i> dès la semaine 44 / ab Woche 44

Rapport reçu le / Schlussbericht erhalten am ...... Visa du secrétariat / Visum des Sekretariats .....

Par sa signature, l'étudiant-e s'engage à respecter strictement la directive DI.1.2.02.07 liée au travail de diplôme. Durch seine Unterschrift verpflichtet sich der/die Student/in, sich an die Richtlinie DI.1.2.02.07 der Diplomarbeit zu halten.

This document is the original report written by the student. It wasn't corrected and may contain inaccuracies and errors.

#### Acknowledgements

It is a real pleasure for me to acknowledge the help of each people who were instrumental for the realisation of my bachelor thesis.

To begin, I would like to thank Prof **Sergio Schmid** who told me about the opportunity to achieve this study in Palermo and encouraged me in this sense, for his teaching in molecular biology and his good preparation that made me able to realise the practical part of this work, and also for his support and lecture as supervisor of this thesis.

I would like to express my gratitude to Prof **Anna Maria Puglia** and Prof **Giuseppe Gallo** for the access to the Laboratory of Molecular Biology and Functional Genomics of the University of Palermo, for them advice and support during all my stay in Palermo. It was a good experience for me to work with a marine organism and improve my knowledge in microbiology, molecular biology and Italian speaking. I truly enjoyed working in a research environment that stimulates new thinking and initiative. Thank also to Prof **Vincenzo Cavalieri** for his expertise and knowledge about the sea urchin *P.lividus*.

I would also like to acknowledge the valuable input of Dr **Claudio Tripodo** and Dr **Walter Arancio**, from the AIRC laboratory of the Polyclinic of Palermo, for the sequencing of the genomic sample by minION<sup>®</sup> technology and for them contribution to understand this novel technology and the results obtained.

These 6 months in Sicily would not realise without the financial support of the MOVE organisation, which give me a scholarship for this period and help me for all administrative registrations in Palermo.

These acknowledgements would not be complete without mentioning my research lab colleagues, I have learned a lot from them, and I hope that I have been able to impart also my knowledge to contribute to the sharing. A special thank for **Francesco Ardizzone**, **Paolo Cinà** and **Pasquale Alibrandi** for the unforgettable moments lived with them during this thesis at work and especially during the free time. "Alla grande compà"

My deepest appreciation belongs to my family for their encouragement, patience and love without this experience would be more difficult.

To answer to the questions about my future from my professors, family and friends I shall use the words of Peter Drucker: "The best way to predict the future is to create it".

### Table of contents

Ac	Acknowledgementsvii		
1	Introdu	iction 1 -	
	1.1 Mi	crobiota 1 -	
	1.2 Ma	arine organisms microbiota 2 -	
	1.3 Se	a urchin <i>P.lividus</i> 4 -	
2	Materia	als and Methods 7 -	
	2.1 De	pendent culture method 7 -	
	2.1.1	Marine Agar (MA) and Marine Broth medium (MB)	
	2.1.2	Sea urchin and coelomic fluid harvesting 7 -	
	2.1.3	Colony PCR 7 -	
	2.1.4	Gel electrophoresis 9 -	
	2.1.5	Purification of amplified DNA 9 -	
	2.1.6	Sequencing 10 -	
	2.1.7	Bioinformatics analysis 10 -	
	2.1.8	Strain glycerol stock (SGS) 11 -	
	2.1.9	Protease analysis 11 -	
	2.1.10	SDS-Page 12 -	
	2.1.11	Cellulase analysis 13 -	
	2.1.12	Esterase analysis 14 -	
	2.1.13	Lipase analysis 14 -	
	2.1.14	Antimicrobial assay 14 -	
	2.2 Inc	dependent culture method 15 -	
	2.2.1	DNA extraction 15 -	
	2.2.2	DNA Quantification 15 -	
	2.2.3	Amplification of the 16S rRNA gene 16 -	
	2.2.4	Sequencing by minION <sup>™</sup> technology 17 -	
3	Results		
	3.1 De	pendent culture method 18 -	
	3.1.1	Isolation of bacterial strains from coelomic fluid of <i>P.lividus</i>	
	3.1.2	Colony PCR 20 -	
	3.1.3	Purification of amplified DNA 21 -	
	3.1.4	Sequencing and bioinformatics analysis 21 -	
	3.1.5	Zymographic analysis 26 -	

	3.1.6	Native SDS-Page	27 -
	3.1.7	Assay of cellulase activity	27 -
	3.1.8	Assay of esterase activity	28 -
	3.1.9	Assay of lipases activity	29 -
	3.1.10	Antimicrobial assay	29 -
	3.1.11	Summary of the results	30 -
3	.2 Inde	ependent culture method	31 -
	3.2.1	DNA extraction	31 -
	3.2.2 Amplification of the 16S rRNA gene 31 -		
	3.2.3	Sequencing by minION <sup>™</sup> technology3	32 -
4	Discussio	on and conclusion	33 -
Refe	erences		35 -

### List of abbreviations

APS	:	Ammonium PerSulphate
mA	:	milliAmper
atm	:	atmosphere (unit of pressure)
bp	:	base pairs
CMC	:	CarboxyMethyl Cellulose
°C	:	Celsius degree
conc.	:	Concentration
DNA	:	DesoxyriboNucleic Acid
dNTP	:	desoxyNucleotide Tri-Phosphate
DMSO	:	DiMethyl SulfOxyde
E	:	East
EDTA	:	EthylenDiamineTetraAcetic acid
h/min/s	:	hour/minute/second
µg/mg/g	:	microgram/milligram/gram
G	:	Gravity force
μL/mL/L	:	microLiter/milliLiter/Liter
LB	:	Luria Broth medium
MA	:	Marine Agar
MB	:	Marine Broth medium
MM	:	Master Mix
nm/µm/cm/m	:	nanometer/micrometer/centimetre/meter
M, mM and $\mu M$	:	Molecular weight [mol/L], [mmol/L] and [µmol/L]
Ν	:	North
NFW	:	Nuclease-Free Water
PCR	:	Polymerase Reaction Chain
рН	:	"potential Hydrogene" (-log*[H⁺])
rx	:	reaction
rpm	:	revolutions per minute
RNA/rRNA	:	RiboNucleic Acid/ ribosomal RiboNucleic Acid
RT	:	Room Temperature
SDS	:	Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate
TAE	:	buffer Tris-Acetate-EDTA
TEMED	:	TEtraMEthylethyleneDiamine
UV	:	UltraViolet
V	:	Volt
Vol.	:	Volume
(v/v) and $(w/v)$	:	(volume/volume) and (weight/volume)
W	:	Watt
WIMP	:	What's In My Pot?

## List of Figures

Figure 1: Human gut microbiota [6] 1 -
Figure 2: Sampling of sea urchin <i>P.lividus</i> 4 -
Figure 3: bottom side (oral pole) of light violet Paracentrotus lividus [45]
Figure 4: Upper side (aboral pole) of dark violet Paracentrotus lividus [45]
Figure 5: Internal anatomoy of sea urchin <i>P.lividus</i> . The coelomic fluid is not represented but all of
the internal organs bathed in this liquid [49] 5 -
Figure 6: Opened sea urchin. Five orange gonads from adult [45]
Figure 7: Amplified region on the 16S rDNA [64] 8 -
Figure 8: Diminution of the MA thickness after 3 weeks at 30°C.
Figure 9: Isolation of the strain from the coelomic fluid on MA. (A) No dilution, (B) 1/10 dilution and
(C) 1/100 dilution
Figure 10: Pure colony on MA isolated from coelomic fluid after 5 days at 30°C
Figure 11: Electrophoretic analysis of colony PCR products (1%, 100V for 1h)
Figure 12: Electrophoretic analysis of colony PCR products (1%, 100V for 1h)
Figure 13: Electrophoretic analysis of colony PCR products after purification
Figure 14: Phylogenetic tree of the isolated strains from the coelomic fluid of <i>P.lividus</i>
Figure 15: Phylogenetic tree zoomed to show the affiliation of the isolated strain 11 to the genus
Marinobacter23 -
Figure 16: Phylogenetic tree zoomed to show the affiliation of the isolated strain 9 to the genus
Balneola23 -
Figure 17: Phylogenetic tree zoomed to show the affiliation of the isolated strain 10 to the genus
Oceanibulbus 24 -
Figure 18: Phylogenetic tree zoomed to show the affiliation of the isolated strains 1-8 and 12 to the
genus <i>Vibrio</i> 25 -
Figure 19: Zymographic analysis of the isolated strains. Migration parameters: 100 W, 160 V and
15/25 mA 26 -
Figure 20: Native SDS-Page of the isolated strains. Migration parameters: 100 W, 160 V and 15/25
mA 27 -
Figure 21: Cellulase assay. Migration parameters: 100 W, 160 V and 15/25 mA
Figure 22: Esterases assay on agar plate containing ester myristate after an overnight incubation at
37°C 28 -
Figure 23: Lipases assay on MA containing rhodamine-B and olive oil after 10 days of incubation at
30°C 29 -
Figure 24: Antimicrobial assay with a Gram-negative strain (E.coli) in soft agar. Incubation overnight
at 37°C 29 -
Figure 25: Antimicrobial assay with a Gram-positive strain (K.rhizophila) in soft agar. Incubation
overnight at 37°C 30 -
Figure 26: Electrophoretic analysis of the DNA extracted from the coelomic fluid of <i>P.lividus</i> (1%,
100V for 60 min)
Figure 27: Electrophoresis analysis of the amplified products of extraction (1%, 100V for 1h) 31 -
Figure 28: Phylogenetic tree and relative abundance of each strain obtained after the sequencing, by
minION™ technologies 32 -

#### 1 Introduction

#### **Microbiota** 1.1

Complex organisms (like plants and animals) cannot live without interaction with their environment and microorganisms. They live in a complex community and need some interactions to growth, produce energy and protection. Moreover, microorganisms are not only a source of contamination and disease but also serve for a correct development. The microbiota is the set of microorganisms (bacteria, yeasts, fungi and virus) that live in symbiosis with other organisms (such as animals or plants). This set can be found inside or outside (like on the skin for animal) to the host organism. The first approach of this term for human was realised by J.Lederberg with the terms microbiome, "to signify the ecological community of commensal, symbiotic, and pathogenic microorganisms that literally share our body space" [1]. To determine the population of the human microbiota and to evaluate the capacity of the bacterial microbiota to growth in vivo, an analysis of the relatively wellconserved 16S rRNA gene was performed with a mixture of organisms [2]. Results showed that 40% to 80% of microorganisms are cultivable, others organisms (depending on the body site and complex interactions) are uncultivable. For this reason, the population and the number of microorganisms are

probably underestimated [3]. The human genome contains about 20'000 different genes and the bacterial gut metagenome meanwhile contains more than 3 million genes (cells ratio is about 1:10 between eukaryotes and prokaryotes cells) [4]. This difference is not negligible and helps to understand why the microbiota plays an important role during the live and for the health of each host organism [5]. The gastrointestinal track is the most important region of the animal body where this amount of Figure 1: Human gut microbiota [6].



microorganisms is present and can be considered like an independent organ. The intestinal microbiota (Figure 1) can perform trophic, metabolic, digestive and also protective and adaptive processes to the host organism [7]. Nevertheless, the microbiota of the buccal cavity, vagina and skin are important too to regulate and protect the body against external contamination and should not be overlooked [8]. The symbiotic micro-organisms are able to respond to changes in our behaviour but also to the environment and therefore can affect our health: may contribute to the pathogenesis of certain diseases such as arthritis [9], cirrhosis and liver disease [10], pneumonia in HIV-infected individuals [11], type 2 diabetes [12] and obesity [13].

For plants, the microbiota is also important and is involved in vital function such as plant nutrition, nitrogen assimilation, vitamins and hormones production and endurance of these to biotic and abiotic stresses. Leaves (phyllosphere) and roots (rhizosphere) are two different possibilities to be in contact with their environment and contribute in a different way to the symbiosis. Roots are directly in contact with soil, one of the biggest microbial ecosystems on Earth, but not all types of bacteria are good for one plant species. Members of the phyla Bacteroidetes, Actinobacteria, Proteobacteria and Firmicutes are mostly represented in soil sample [14].

That is why plants need to do a selection for choosing by molecules secretion, such as salicylic acid or ethylene production, the good species of bacteria to live in symbiosis. The molecular secretion can be realised directly in a specific zone by root secretion or in a large zone by leaves diffusion.

The promotion of animal and plant health by microorganisms has been described for many decades and demand again more studies to understand the complexity of differentiation carried out by the host organism to live in symbiosis and not in pathogen way.

The Earth is also called the blue planet because more than 70% of the surface is covered with water. About 95% of this water is contained between ocean and sea. The seawater has a pH between 7.5 and 8.4, and is a slightly alkaline mixture with solids, gases and dissolved organic matter, the concentration of which varies according to region and temperature. At the beginning of the life on Earth (3.5 billion years ago), microorganisms were the only living form and this for about 3 billion years. So the development of life on Earth and its environment depend on the past and present activities of marine bacteria. During the twentieth century, a lot of experiment (metagenomics studies) were realised with sea samples, for several reasons. As described above, water covers a surface biggest than continents and then microbial water life has an important role in the regulation of Earth ecosystems. It's a natural resource. The environment of marine niches is particular and demands to the microorganisms to be resistant against salts concentration, temperature, sun UV rays. Some new genes and expressed proteins can be found and used for biotechnological processes; this part is fast growing. The change of the marine microbial diversity is directly affected by their environment and can be used as a detector for ecosystem sustainability [15]. The discovery of abundance microbial life in this environment has confirmed the old theories on the vital role of marine microorganisms for the maintenance of life on the Earth [16]. The sea microbiota is studied in coastal regions over the world but the comparison between studies is difficult because the conditions and environment of each location are too different. Furthermore, these studies are mostly concentrated in the photic zone (superficial water) while the aphotic zone (more than -200m) of the ocean is biggest. This second zone contains the life of the ocean, with fishes and mammalian animals, and brings the essential part of nutrients that needs the superficial zone [17]. The first results about the diversity of sea microbiota show that the micro-organism density decreases with depth [18]. However, some results obtained in another study show that aphotic zone contains more microorganisms than the other part of the ocean and that this community is more productive than earth microorganisms [19, 20]. The nutrient cycle of Deep Ocean bring essential nutrients for the photic and terrestrial zone and then microorganisms' communities of these two zones are dependent on the aphotic zone microbiota [20].

#### **1.2** Marine organisms microbiota

The study of interactions between marine organisms and their microorganisms is providing interesting insights into phenomena of symbiosis and pathogenicity. In fact, it is known that even in the marine environment the bacteria establish relationships with guests and in some cases organisations promoting the acquisition of nutriment, tissue development or immune system [21].

Symbiotic microbial communities are common in marine invertebrates and include several species of bacteria, microalgae virus and archaea [22]. The prokaryotic microbiota of marine invertebrates is constituted, for the most part, by obliged symbionts [23] but there are also optional [24] and many of them produce specific extracellular compounds.

The microorganism symbiotic also plays a critical role in ensuring the normal growth of the host organism, through the supply of nutrients and the production of secondary metabolites having protective activity against predators. For example sponges, corals and sea squirts, carry out their activities nutrient suppliers, through carbon fixation, that comes from photosynthetic symbionts [25]. The structural and functional diversity of microbial community symbionts, in fact suggests that invertebrates guests create microbial niches that contribute to the biodiversity and to vary the nutrient cycle in the marine ecosystem of the coasts [26]. The specific microorganisms which live in microbial niches include bacteria, archaea and single eukaryotic cells, make up about 40% of the total volume of the sponge [27]; the cyanobacterial symbionts, provide up 50% of energy needed to tropical sponges [28], other strains produce metabolites directly active against predators [29] which are also useful not only for pharmaceutical uses but seems to contribute in determining the development of the sponge [30]. The sponge symbiotic microorganisms are responsible for the synthesis of vitamin B1 that these animals must necessarily obtain from the nutrient [31]. Today there is increasingly focused on the fact that the sponges contain their specific microbiota and through pyrosequencing of different species have been identified, Proteobacteria, Acidobacteria, Actinobacteria, Chloroflexi are the mostly present [32]. The synthesis of secondary metabolites by symbiotic microorganisms contributes, as we said, for the chemical defences of marine invertebrates [33], the strategy will be useful for organisms who need fixation to a support to growth (sessile organisms) to discourage predators, avoid getting trapped in sly contexts and for the substrate competition [34]. It is to underline the fact that many of these secondary metabolites are useful in the pharmaceutical field and in the biotechnological applications [35].

Many studies on the microbiota of sea squirts focus their attention on cyanobacteria isolated from the cloacal cavity (meeting point of the excretory ducts of the urinary and reproductive apparatus with the end of the intestinal canal) or the host organism tunic (protection layer for the host organism)[36]. Cyanobacteria of the strain *Prochlon* generally provide UV absorbent molecules to their guests. Bacterial symbionts were also isolated from bivalves as *Tyasira flexuosa*. The microorganisms were isolated from tissue of gills and some of these oxidise sulphates [37]. Another microorganism named *Calyptogena soyoae* was also isolated from bivalves and help the host organism for the fixation of carbon source [38]. A substantial number of studies report the presence of intestinal micro-organisms in aquatic invertebrates. The most common genra reported as symbionts of the gastrointestinal tract of marine invertebrates are: *Pseudomonas, Vibrio, Micrococcus, Aeromonas, Flavobacteria*.

Among the ecologically and commercially important invertabrates, the sea urchin deserves considerable attention, both for its use as a culinary delicacy [39], both as a model organism for the study of biological systems of primary importance such as embryogenesis, development and studies focusing on the dynamics of chromatin [40]. Recently, studies were also made regarding the intestinal microbiota of *Lytechinus variegatus* sea urchin [41] and designated a potential role for the health of the animal, helping its absorption of nutrients activities [42]. However, a little attention has been given to the determination of a possible microbial communities existing in coelomic fluid of the sea urchin, more precisely for the species *Paracentrotus lividus*, which could also provide ecologically important information and sheds light on a possible biological role of these microorganisms in the growth and survival of this species.

The isolation and characterization of the microbiota contained in the coelomic fluid of *P.lividus* is essential to understand how this organism live and share in a sea environment as well as found new enzymes produce by this microbiota usable for biotechnological processes.

#### Sea urchin P.lividus 1.3

The sea urchin *Paracentrotus lividus* is also known as the rock sea urchin or purple sea urchin [43]. However, the colour of this species (Figure 4) can vary between brown (dark and light), olive green and violet (dark and light). It belongs to the phylum Echinodermata (Echinoidea); it's a benthic organism (lives fixed to a solid substrate) and lives principally in the eastern Atlantic Ocean and the Mediterranean Sea. It's subtidal species (species that lives in a zone situated below the variation of the sea's tide because it needs to be always immersing). It lives fixed to a rock pool (boulders) or in meadows of seagrasses at a depth up to 20 meters but can be found until 80 meters when the temperature of the upper water exceeds 29°C (living temperature between 4°C to 29°C). This organism is principally herbivore and eats different kinds of algae like R.verruculosa, C.nodosa and P.pavonica [44]. It moves outsides rock cavity during the night to eat and still hide the rest of the time.







P.lividus from Mediterranean Sea [45].

Figure 2: Sampling of sea urchin Figure 3: Upper side (aboral pole) of dark violet Paracentrotus lividus [45].

Figure 4: bottom side (oral pole) of light violet Paracentrotus lividus [45].

The reproduction period for *P.lividus* is between February and July; during this period, which corresponds to the algal production, the gonads are biggest and contain gametes (sperms and eggs) [46]. The fecundation of eggs is external. Eggs and sperms are ejected in the sea in the same moment, during the night; the fusion of the gametes is realised with some adhesive protein in sperm and specific receptors on eggs surface [47]. It is not possible to determine if the sea urchin is a female or a male before to open it.

P.lividus is comestible and is particularly appreciate in Europe (principally in Italy, Spain and France) and in Japan for its gonads. During these last few years, the fishery has grown too fast and becomes dangerous for the population of this species (also for fish species), despite it is the most widespread species of the Mediterranean Sea [48]. For example between 1996 and 2000, a mean of 500,000 tonnes per year were fished in Spain Atlantic Ocean. This quantity has been reduced to a mean of 100,000 tonnes per year between 2001 and 2011 [49]. This reduction is a good beginning but not sufficient to recover the initial world population of sea urchin.

So it's important to understand how this organism lives and shares with its environment in order to control the aquaculture conditions; which correspond only to 0.9% of the world production, and not lose this species definitively in natural habitat. The organic pollution has a little effect on the growth of *P.lividus* and seems in contrast to increasing the density population of the species near the discharge point [50].

However, pollution from oil spills has caused 100% mortality of sea urchin (*P.lividus* and *P.miliaris*) population, three weeks after "Ericka" incident at Piriac-sur-Mer (France). It took about three years to recover the initial density [51].



The body structure (named test, Figure 5) of P.lividus is composed of five symmetric calcareous plates and the epidermis. The form of this animal is spherical for the top and flattened on the bottom and the maximum test diameter is about 7 centimetres [52]. It is covered by movable spines and podia with which it can move vertically and horizontally. The spines are fixed on the shell by muscles and serve also as protection against the

Figure 5: Internal anatomoy of sea urchin *P.lividus.* The coelomic fluid is not represented but all of the internal organs bathed in this liquid [49].

predator and to catch and hold the nutrients. The weight of spines on healthy sea urchin corresponds to 50% of the total weight. The podia serve principally for oxygen absorption, body cleaning or covered the body with pieces of algae, shell and rocks as a camouflage (named spine canopy). The mouth is situated on the bottom surface (oral pole, Figure 2) and is called Aristotle's lantern, it is composed of five triangular plates with the tooth at the end. The sea urchin *P.lividus* also uses this strong mouth to create some protection cavities in the rock against predators and Sea/Ocean current. The mouth is connected to the test by a peristomial membrane; this membrane allows the mouth to move up, down and on the sides. The mouth is following by the pharynx, the oesophagus, two intestines (oral and aboral) and finish by the anus on the aboral surface (on the top, Figure 3).

The digestive system is directly associated to the gonads by hemal and mesenterial strands. The gametes and excrements are released into the sea by the anal pole. Inside the coelomic cavity (cavity forms by the test) you can also find five gonads (reproductive organs, Figure 6) disposed radially on the test. The colour of desirable gonads can be varied between yellow-orange and orange-red due to carotenoid pigments if the gonads present different colours (black, brown, green or white) it is a sign of healthy problem.



Figure 6: Opened sea urchin. Five orange gonads from adult.

The weight of healthy gonads corresponds to 10-14% of the adult's body but can be smallest [53]. Two major cell types are present in the gonads: germinal cells and nutritive phagocytes, which give the energy and nutrients necessary for the development of the gametes [54-55]. The most important circulatory medium of sea urchins is then the coelomic fluid enclosed in the body cavity (test). This internal fluid contains a mixture of organic molecules and living cells that control essential functions (as nutrient transport or immune activity) [56-57]. The coelomic fluid is not in contact with the surrounding seawater environment and in direct contact with internal tissues. This is why this liquid is composed by immunocytes that respond to pathogen challenge and producing antibacterial molecules [58-59]. Therefore, the coelomic fluid could be considered as a complex tissue that mediates responses against injury and microbial infections by different approaches such as coagulation, opsonization, phagocytosis and encapsulation [60]. In a second case, the coelomic fluid of *P.lividus* has been supposed to be a microorganism-free compartment. Only recently, a report describing the identification of a bacterial microbiota associated with the coelomic fluid of *P.lividus* [61], was carried out in the Laboratory of Molecular Microbiology and Biotechnology (where the practical part of this thesis was realised).

In the present study, the presence of bacteria into the coelomic fluid of the sea urchin Paracentrotus *lividus* from a geographical area different from that considered in the first report has been explored. Two different methods of analysis, the culture-based and culture-independent investigations, are described. The dependent culture method based on the growth of bacteria on marine agar (MA) and DNA sequencing after the amplification of the 16S rRNA gene, reported a predominance of taxa belonging to Proteobacteria and Bacteriodetes. The analysis of the production of extracellular enzymes has also been performed and reports that the isolated strains produced proteases, lipases and esterases. This kind of biomolecules can be useful for biotechnological processes but needs to be characterised because only qualitative approaches have been done. The independent culture method was performed by the sequencing by minION™ technologies of the metagenomics DNA extracted from the coelomic fluid. This approach reported a predominance of taxa belonging to Proteobacteria, Actinobacteria, Cyanobacteria, Fusobacteria, Thermodesulfobacteria, Ignavibacteria, Firmicutes and Tenericutes. The identification of the microbiota present in the coelomic fluid of sea urchin Paracentrotus lividus have been highlighted in order to understand the role of bacteria in the physiology and ecology and aquaculture activities of this echinoderm. Moreover, this research could allow the discovery of new bioactive compound useful for biotechnological processes.

#### 2 Materials and Methods

#### 2.1 Dependent culture method

#### 2.1.1 Marine Agar (MA) and Marine Broth medium (MB)

40.20 g (balance BC1500, ORMA, n°33888) of marine broth (Conda pronadisa, n°1217.00) was suspended in 1.0 L of distilled water. Well mixed and dissolved by heating in a water bath with frequent agitation. The preparation was boiled one minute in the microwave (Electrolux M8, n°EMS21400S) until complete dissolution. After the temperature was below than 30°C, 15.00 g of BactoAgar (BD, n°214010) was added and the medium was sterilised at 121°C, 1 atm during 20 minutes (autoclave Carlo Erba, n°5991). The prepared medium may present a light precipitation. Plates were prepared before the solidification of the medium and under biological laminar flow with UV lamp. The plates were conserved at 4°C until the use.

The marine broth medium (MB) was prepared following the same instruction without the addition of bactoAgar. After the sterilisation, the bottle of the medium was conserved at RT.

#### 2.1.2 Sea urchin and coelomic fluid harvesting

The sea urchin samples used for this thesis were collected from the coastal region of Palermo, from the coast of women's island (Isola delle Femmine, 38°12'00"N and 13°15'00"E), during the months of June and July 2016. The *P.lividus* samples were taken during the early hours of the morning and immediately transported to the Laboratory of Molecular Microbiology and Biotechnology of the University of Palermo, in optimal conditions of temperature and humidity, such as to ensure an analysis as accurate as possible and corresponding with natural conditions. It was then externally sterilised by heat (burned with a Bunsen the external calcareous shell urchin). The harvesting was realised under a biological laminar flow. Sterile syringe (BD plastipak, n°300865) with a needle were used for the harvesting of coelomic fluid. The needle was inserted through the animal's peristomial membrane around the mouth (Aristotle's lantern) and the liquid is pumped off.

The coelomic liquid extracted was mixed with 100  $\mu$ L of 0.5 M EDTA (Sigma, n° E6758) to prevent coagulation of protein, placed into sterile tubes of 10 mL and kept on ice. The coelomic fluid was plated containing MA as described below:

- 20 µL of native sample
- 20 µL of 10x diluted sample
- 20 µL of 100x diluted sample

The MAs were incubated overnight at 30°C. All the different strains were then selected and plated on fresh MA. The new plates were incubated overnight at 30°C. If there was one strain on the plate, this one was stored at 4°C until the use. If there was more than one colony, one fresh MA was used for each colony and incubated overnight at 30°C. This final step was realised until to obtain a pure clone.

#### 2.1.3 Colony PCR

Cells of the strains isolated from pure cultures were directly taken from their culture medium under sterile conditions with a toothpick and suspended in 25  $\mu$ L of TE buffer (10 mM Trizma (Sigma, n°T1503), 1 mM EDTA (Sigma, n° E6758), pH adjusted at 8).

The bacterial suspensions were boiled in water bath for 5 minutes, immediately after placed on ice for 5 minutes and finally centrifuged (minispin, Eppendorf, n°5452) at 15000 G for 5 minutes (centrifuge mini spin Eppendorf, n°5452). 1  $\mu$ L of the supernatant containing the DNA of the selected strain was used as a template for the PCR reaction.

The primers used for the PCR reaction of the 16S rRNA gene are listed in the Table 1.

Table 1: Oligonucleotide used for the amplification of 16S rRNA gene.

Name	Sequences	Lenght	Information
16S_27F	5'- AGAGTTTGATCMTGGCTCAG -3'	20	PCR primer
165_1492R	5'- TACGGYTACCTTGTTACGACTT-3'	22	PCR primer

Primer 16S\_27F (Invitrogen, Q8181A07 ); Primer 16S\_1492R (Invitrogen, n°Q8181A08) [62].

The region amplified by the primers used is visualised on the Figure 7. This PCR reaction can be named as "16S long" amplification [63].



Figure 7: Amplified region on the 16S rDNA [64].

The amplification reaction was carried out in a total reaction volume of 50  $\mu$ L, using the following quantities of reagents (Table 2):

 Table 2: Master Mix used for the colony PCR.

	Final Conc.	Vol. for 1 rx [µL]	Vol. for 5 rx [µL]	Vol. for 15 rx [µL]
5x PCR reaction buffer	1x	10	50	150
10 mM dNTP mix	200 µM each	1	5	15
50 mM MgCl <sub>2</sub>	1.5 μM	1.5	7.5	22.5
Primer 16S_27F	0.2 μM	1	5	15
Primer 16S_1492R	0.2 μM	1	5	15
Template DNA	-	1	-	-
<i>Tfi</i> DNA polymerase (5U/μL)	5 units	1	5	15
H <sub>2</sub> O sterile	-	33.5	167.5	502.5
Total	-	50	245	735

*Tfi* DNA polymerase, 5x PCR reaction buffer and 50 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub> (Invitrogen, n°30342-052); dNTP set (Invitrogen, 10297-018). NFW was used as negative control and genomic DNA from *S.coelicolor* as positive control (University sample gave by A.Vassallo).

The programme used for the amplification (Master cycler personal Eppendrof, n°5332 01037) is the following (Table 3):

Table 3: Program used for the colony PCR.

	Temps	Temperature [°C]	
Initial Denaturation	3 min	94	
Denaturation	45s	ר 94	
Annealing	1 min	50 >	30 cycles
Extension	1.5 min	72 J	
Final extension	10 min	72	

The duration of this program is about 2.2 hours.

#### 2.1.4 Gel electrophoresis

To observe the result of the amplification, a 1% (w/v) agarose gel was prepared. 0.5 grams (balance JJ100, FALC, n°630201001) of agarose (Eurx, n°E0301-500) were added in 50 ml of TAE buffer 1x (4.84 g Trizma (Sigma, n°T1503), 1.14 ml acetic acid 100% (Sigma, n°33209), 2 ml 0.5 M EDTA (Sigma, n° E6758) completed until 1000 ml with demineralised water, pH adjusted at 8). The solution was boiled with a microwave (Electrolux M8, n°EMS21400S) until complete dissolution of the agarose. 1  $\mu$ L of ethidium bromide (Sigma, n°E1510) was added to the solution before the pouring of the gel. Let the gel solidified before the use.

5  $\mu$ L of ladder (MassRuler DNA ladder mix, Thermo Scientific, n°SM0403 or DNA ladder, Roche, n°14833221) was loaded for each run. 2  $\mu$ L of sample mixed with 1  $\mu$ L of loading buffer (DNA gel loading dye 6x, Thermo Scientific, n°R0611) was loaded per well. The run conditions were 100 mA and 100 V (electrophoresis power supply Elvi tipo18, n°877) and the run duration was about 1 hour. Results acquisition was performed with the program AlphaDigiDoc RT2 connected to a transilluminator UV (Alpha innotech corporation UV lamp, n°0610193).

#### 2.1.5 Purification of amplified DNA

The following method originates from the NucleoSpin<sup>®</sup> gel and PCR clean-up kit by Macherey-Nagel (n°740609.250).

The purification step was realised from a 1% agarose gel. 1.2 grams (balance JJ100, FALC, n°630201001) of agarose (Eurx, n°E0301-500) were added in 120 mL of TAE buffer 1x (4.84 g Trizma (Sigma, n°T1503), 1.14 ml acetic acid 100% (Sigma, n°33209), 2 mL 0.5 M EDTA (Sigma, n° E6758) completed until 1000 mL with demineralised water, pH adjusted at 8). The solution was boiled with a microwave (Electrolux M8, n°EMS21400S) until complete dissolution of the agarose. 2.5  $\mu$ L of ethidium bromide (Sigma, n°E1510) was added to the solution before the pouring of the gel. Let the gel solidified before the use. 5  $\mu$ L of ladder (MassRuler DNA ladder mix, Thermo Scientific, n°SM0403) was loaded for each run. 48  $\mu$ L of sample mixed with 3  $\mu$ L of loading buffer (DNA gel loading dye 6x, Thermo Scientific, n°R0611) was loaded per well. The run conditions were 100 mA and 100 V (electrophoresis power supply Elvi tipo18, n°877) and the run duration is about 2.75 hours.

After the run, the gel was placed on a trans-illuminator UV 312 nm (Vilber Lourmat, model TFX 20M) and the expected band (1500 bp) was excised with a clean scalpel. The weight of the cut band was determined (balance JJ100, FALC, n°630201001) and transferred to a tube of 1.5 ml. 200 µL of buffer NT1 (Macherey-Nagel, n°740609.250) was added for each 100 mg of agarose gel. The sample was incubated 10 min at 50°C (thermobloc BBD2, Grant Boekel, n°7W9906001) with vortexing every 3 minutes until the gel slice was completely dissolved. A column from the kit was placed into a collection tube (2 mL) and a maximum of 700 µL of sample was charged. The whole was centrifuged (minispin, Eppendorf, n°5452) for 30 seconds at 11,000 G. The flow-through was discarded and the column was placed back into the collection tube. If the sample volume was more than 700  $\mu$ L, the centrifugation step was repeated. 700 µL of buffer NT3 (Macherey-Nagel, n°740609.250) was added to the column and centrifuged for 30 seconds at 11,000 G. The flow-through was discarded and the column was placed back into the collection tube. This step was realised twice. The silica membrane of the column was dried by centrifugation for 1 minute at 11,000 G and incubation at 70°C for 5 minutes. The column was placed into a new tube of 1.5 mL and 50  $\mu L$  of demineralised water is added for the elution. The whole was incubated at RT for 1 minute and centrifuged for 1 min at 11,000 G. The elution step was realised twice.

After the elution and to confirm the purification step,  $1 \mu L$  of the sample was charged on a 1% (w/v) agarose gel as described in the section 2.1.4.

#### 2.1.6 Sequencing

The sequencing of amplicons was performed by the company Macrogen EU (Meibergdreef, Amsterdam, The Nederlands), according to the Sanger method.

#### 2.1.7 Bioinformatics analysis

#### 2.1.7.1 FinchTV

The chromatograms obtained for the sequencing of amplicons were analysed by bioinformatics software FinchTV 1.4.0. This application is free and was developed by Geospiza Inc. (2004-2006). FinchTV allows determining the correct allocation of the positions of the nucleotide bases, and then manually modifying the sequence to then be exported in FASTA format, so it can be used in the subsequent analyses.

#### 2.1.7.2 BLAST

The Basic Local Alignment Search Tool (BLAST) is an online software who finds regions of local similarity between sequences. The program compares nucleotide sequences to sequence databases and calculates the statistical significance of matches using a heuristic algorithm. BLAST can be used to infer functional and evolutionary relationships between sequences as well as help identify members of gene families [65].

The sample sequences were compared with the 16S ribosomal RNA sequences (Bacteria and Archaea) database of the program to find the most similar strains. The 10 first similar sequences found in this database were used to build the phylogenetic tree.

#### 2.1.7.3 MEGA 7

Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis (MEGA) is an integrated tool for managing automatic and manual sequence alignment, mining web-based databases, deducting phylogenetic trees, evaluating rates of molecular evolution, and testing evolutionary hypotheses. To access this software connect to the Windows systems [66].

#### 2.1.8 Strain glycerol stock (SGS)

The strains isolated from pure cultures were directly taken under sterile conditions with a platinum loop and added in 5 mL of marine broth medium. The cultures were stored overnight at 30°C and 220 rpm. 0.5 mL of the culture is mixed with 0.5 mL of sterile 40% (v/v) glycerol (Sigma, n°G5516) to arrive at a final concentration of 20% (v/v) of glycerol. The SGS was conserved at -20°C.

#### 2.1.9 Protease analysis

5  $\mu$ L of SGS was added in 5 mL of MB and incubated overnight at 30°C and 220 rpm. The culture was centrifuged (Thermo Scientific SL16R, n°75004030) at 1800 G during 20 minutes at 4°C. 10  $\mu$ L of the supernatant was mixed with 10  $\mu$ L of native buffer 2x (100mM Tris-HCl (Sigma, n°T5941), 4% (w/v) SDS (Sigma, n°62862), 20% (v/v) glycerol (Sigma, n°G5516) and 0.2 % (w/v) bromophenol blue (Bio-Rad, n°133538A)). 15  $\mu$ L of the obtained solution was charged per well in the stacking gel. 8  $\mu$ L of the pre-stained ladder (SeeBlue® Plus2, novex, n°LC5925) was charged in the well. The conditions for the samples migration were the following: 100 W, 160 V and 15 mA until the samples were entered in the resolving gel after the current was raised to 25 mA (electrophoresis power supply EPS601, n°56327481).

For one analysis the gel was prepared using the following reagents (Table 4):

	Resolving gel [mL]	Stacking gel [mL]
H <sub>2</sub> O demineralised	1.15	0.68
Gelatine stock solution	0.45	-
30% Acrylamide mix	2	0.17
1.5 M Trizma pH 8.8	1.3	-
1 M Trizma pH 6.8	-	0.13
10% SDS	0.05	0.01
10% APS	0.05	0.01
TEMED	0.002	0.001

#### Table 4: Preparation of the entire gel for the protease analysis.

Gelatine (Sigma, n°G7765); 30% Acrylamide mix (Sigma, n°A3574); Trizma (Sigma, n°T1503); SDS (Sigma, n°62862); APS (Sigma, n°A3678); TEMED (Sigma, n°T9281).

The concentration of the resolving gel was usually 12% of acrylamide. The gelatine stock solution had a concentration of 6 g/L. The two last components must be added just prior to casting for the both gel. The resolving gel corresponded to the lower part of the entire gel and the stacking gel to the upper part. The migration of the samples was realised inside the running buffer (25 mM Trizma (Sigma, n°T1503), 192 mM glycine (Sigma, n°G8898) and 0.1% SDS (Sigma, n°62862)) [67].

After the migration of the samples, the gel was washed with the washing buffer (2.5% Triton X-100 (Sigma, n°T9284) and 0.02% NaN<sub>3</sub> (Serva, n°30175)) during 10 minutes at RT. The gel was then treated for the staining with the activation buffer (1.5% Triton X-100 (Sigma, n°T9284), 0.02% NaN<sub>3</sub> (Serva, n°30175), 2 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub> (Carlo Erba, n°433381) and 50 mM Trizma (Sigma, n°T1503), pH was adjusted at 7.5) for 1 hour at 50°C. The staining was carried out overnight with the colorant R250 (0.25% (w/v) Coomassie blue (Merck, n°12553), 45.5% (v/v) methanol (Sigma, n°32213) and 9% (v/v) acetic acid (Sigma, n°33209)).

The destaining was then realised in three steps of 1 hour with fresh destaining buffer (5% (v/v) methanol (Sigma, n°32213) and 7.5% (v/v) acetic acid (Sigma, n°33209)). The destained gel was conserved in demineralised water.

#### 2.1.10 SDS-Page

5  $\mu$ L of SGS was added in 5 mL of MB and incubated overnight at 30°C and 220 rpm. The culture was centrifuged (Thermo Scientific SL16R, n°75004030) at 1800 G for 20 minutes at 4°C. 2 mL of the supernatant was recovered and lyophilised (lyphilisator VaCo 2-E, Zirbus technologie, n°2366) overnight. The lyophilisate was dissolved with 150  $\mu$ L of demineralised water and vortexed gently. 10  $\mu$ L of the obtained solution was mixed with 10  $\mu$ L of native buffer 2x (same preparation as section 2.1.9). 15  $\mu$ L of the obtained solution was charged per well in the stacking gel. The ladder used and the condition of the migration has been carried out as the protease analysis (section 2.1.9).

For one analysis the gel was prepared using the following reagents (Table 5):

	Resolving gel [mL]	Stacking gel [mL]
H <sub>2</sub> O demineralised	1.15	0.68
30% Acrylamide mix	2	0.17
1.5 M Trizma pH 8.8	1.3	-
1 M Trizma pH 6.8	-	0.13
10% SDS	0.05	0.01
10% APS	0.05	0.01
TEMED	0.002	0.001

Table 5: Preparation of the entire gel for the SDS-Page analysis.

30% Acrylamide mix (Sigma, n°A3574); Trizma (Sigma, n°T1503); SDS (Sigma, n°62862); APS (Sigma, n°A3678); TEMED (Sigma, n°T9281).

The concentration of the resolving gel was usually 12% of acrylamide. The two last components must be added just prior to casting for the both gel. The resolving gel corresponded to the lower part of the entire gel and the stacking gel to the upper part. The running buffer used is the same than in section 2.1.9.

After the migration of the samples, the gel was washed with milliQ water during 5 min at RT. The gel was then fix with the destaining solution (40% (v/v) methanol (Sigma, n°32213), 10% (v/v) acetic acid (Sigma, n°33209), 50% (v/v) demineralised water) for 25 min at RT. To eliminate the residue of acid acetic the gel was rinsed 3 times during 45 min at RT and overnight with demineralised water. The gel was sensitised with the solution S (0.08% (w/v) sodium thiosulfate (Sigma, n°S6672)) for 5 min at RT and then rinsed two times with demineralised water for 1 min (each).

The gel was incubated in chilled silver solution (0.4% (w/v) silver nitrate (Sigma, n°31630)) at 4°C for 60 min and then rinsed two times with demineralised water during 1 min (each). The gel was developed with the developing solution (0.04% (v/v) formaldehyde (Sigma, n°F8775), 2% (w/v) sodium carbonate (Sigma, n°31432)) until to see the coloration expected (grew-brown colour) and then the staining was stopped immediately with the quench solution (1% (v/v) acetic acid (Sigma, n°33209). The gel was stored in the quench solution at 4°C.

#### 2.1.11 Cellulase analysis

The preparation of the samples, the ladder used and the condition of the migration has been carried out as the SDS-Page analysis (section 2.1.10). For this analysis, as positive control, a cellulase from *Aspergillus niger* (Sigma, n°22178) had added to a final quantity of 8 µg per lane.

For one analysis the gel was prepared using the following reagents (Table 6):

	Resolving gel	Stacking gel [ml]
H <sub>2</sub> O demineralised	1.15 mL	0.68
CMC	0.01 g	-
30% Acrylamide mix	2 mL	0.17
1.5 M Trizma pH 8.8	1.3 mL	-
1 M Trizma pH 6.8	-	0.13
10% SDS	0.05 mL	0.01
10% APS	0.05 mL	0.01
TEMED	0.002 mL	0.001

Table 6: Preparation of the entire gel for the cellulase analysis.

CMC (Sigma, n°C5678); 30% Acrylamide mix (Sigma, n°A3574); Trizma (Sigma, n°T1503); SDS (Sigma, n°62862); APS (Sigma, n°A3678); TEMED (Sigma, n°T9281).

The concentration of the resolving gel was usually 12% of acrylamide. The CMC added had a concentration of 0.2 % (w/v). The two last components must be added just prior to casting for the both gel. The resolving gel corresponded to the lower part of the entire gel and the stacking gel to the upper part. The running buffer used is the same than in section 2.1.9.

After the migration of the samples, the gel was washed with the washing/activation solution (0.1M sodium succinate (Sigma, n°S2378), pH adjusted at 5.8) twice for 6 minutes at RT. The gel was then treated for the staining with the washing/activation solution for 40 minutes at 50°C. The staining was carried out with the colorant Congo red (0.1% (w/v) in water solution, (Sigma, n°C6277)) for 20 minutes at RT. The destaining was then realised in three steps of 1 hour with fresh destaining solution (1 M NaCl (Sigma, n°S7653)). To enhance the visualization of the band, 0.1% (v/v) of acid acetic (Sigma, n°33209) was added in the destaining solution for the last step. The gel destained was conserved in demineralised water.

#### 2.1.12 Esterase analysis

The esterase activity assay was tested qualitatively on ester myristate agar plate (0.14% (w/v) 4nitrophenyl myristate (Sigma, n°BCBP9506V); 1.5 % (w/v) BactoAgar (BD, n°214010), pH adjusted at 7.0). The myristate was dissolved in DMSO, filtrated with a 0.20  $\mu$ m filter and then added after the autoclaving of the medium and before the pouring of the plate. The sample was plated as a drop and the agar plate was incubated at 37°C during 24 hours. The esterase reaction was observed through the formation of a clear halo after incubation. A 15  $\mu$ L drop of MB has been used as negative control.

#### 2.1.13 Lipase analysis

The determination of the lipase activity was assessed qualitatively by the growth of bacterial cultures for 10 days at 30°C on plate containing marine broth, 0.001% rhodamine-B (gave by the department of chemistry), 1% olive oil (Fratelli Madonia, n°L.267/15/extra c) and 1.5% Bactoagar (BD, n°214010). The solution of rhodamine-B and olive oil were filtrated at 0.20  $\mu$ m, and then added after the autoclaving of the medium and before the pouring of the plate. 5 $\mu$ L of SGS was deposed as a drop on the plate. The protocol performed allows to evaluate, through the use of rhodamine-B dye, such bacterial strains are able to activate the enzyme for the use of olive oil. In fact, the bacteria that possess the lipase is capable to hydrolysed fats, animal and vegetable oils (such as olive oil) and free fatty acids (saturated and unsaturated such as oleic acid). The liberation of fatty acids due to the decrease of pH is visible by the change in colour of rhodamine-B. The positivity of the test is given by the presence of an orange-pink fluorescence exposure under UV light following the incubation.

#### 2.1.14 Antimicrobial assay

The first day, isolated strains were plated on MA and incubated overnight at 30°C to have a dense layer of culture. The same day, some plates were prepared with a small layer (7 ml) of LB agar (25.0 g/L of Luria Broth base (Invitrogen, n°12795-084) and 1.5% (w/v) of BactoAgar (BD, n°214010). The medium was before sterilised at 121°C, 1 atm for 20 min.

The second day, some cells of *Escherichia coli* and *Kocuria rhizophila* (gift of P. Cinà) were added in 5 mL of demineralised water (two different tubes, one for *E.coli* and one for *K.rhizophila*) and the absorbance  $OD_{600}$  (Spectrophotometer Jasco, ubest-50, n°2332) of the suspensions were measured. Then 100 µL of the suspension ( $OD_{600}$  is between 1.0 and 1.2) was added in 5.0 mL of sterilised soft agar at 45°C (25.0 g/L of Luria Broth base (Invitrogen, n°12795-084) and 0.7% (w/v) of BactoAgar (BD, n°214010) and poured on the plate containing the small layer of LB agar. The plates containing the soft agar were let until solidification.

A plug with a diameter of about 2 cm was cut from MA plates of each dense bacterial layer and put on the soft agar containing *E.coli* or *K.rhizophila*. The plates were incubated overnight at 37°C.

#### 2.2 Independent culture method

#### 2.2.1 DNA extraction

The following method originates from the genomic DNA purification kit by Thermo Scientific (n°K0512).

The coelomic fluid from *P.lividus* was extracted as described in the chapter 2.1.1. After the harvesting and collection in 10 mL sterile tubes (Sarstedt, n°62.9924.284), each sample was centrifuged (Thermo Scientific SL16R, n°75004030) at 2800 G for 10 minutes. The pellet was suspended in 200 µL of TE buffer (10 mM Trizma (Sigma, n°T1503), 1 mM EDTA (Sigma, n° E6758), pH adjusted at 8). The sample was mixed with 400 µL of lysis solution (from the kit) and incubated at 65°C for 5 minutes. 600 µL of chloroform (Sigma, n°32211) was immediately added and the solution was gently mixed by inversion (5 times) and centrifuged at 11,000 G for 2 minutes. Precipitation solution was made by mixing 720  $\mu$ L of sterile demineralised water with 80  $\mu$ L of 10x concentrated precipitation solution (from the kit). The upper aqueous phase containing DNA was transferred into a new tube and 800 µL of freshly prepared precipitation solution was added. The solution was gently mixed by serval inversion at RT and centrifuged at 11,000 G for 2 minutes. The supernatant was completely removed and the DNA pellet was dissolved in 100 µL of NaCl solution (from the kit). To eliminate the RNA present in the sample, a RNAse A solution (TermoFisher Scientific, n°EN0531) was added to a final concentration of 0.2 mg/mL, mixed by vortexing and incubated at 37°C for 10 minutes. 300 µL of cold ethanol (Fluka, n°02860) was added for the precipitation of DNA and the sample was stored for 10 minutes at -20°C. Ethanol was removed and the pellet was washed once with a solution of 70% cold ethanol.

The DNA pellet was dissolved in 100  $\mu$ L of sterilised water by gentle vortexing. 5  $\mu$ L of the products of extraction were charged on a 1% agarose gel (preparation of the gel is describe in section 2.1.4) and separated by electrophoresis.

#### 2.2.2 DNA Quantification

To determine the DNA concentration and quality of the samples, the spectrophotometer NanoDrop (Nanodrop ND-1000, n°Ed1/0207/152) was used. This instrument is a UV-Visible spectrophotometer and need only 1  $\mu$ L of sample for the analysis. It quantifies very accurately by measuring the optical density of the sample.

The Nanodrop uses a technology based on surface tension of small liquid volume that exert when it is placed between two neighbouring surfaces. Thus the drop of sample placed on the reading plate, creates a liquid column directly in contact with two optical fibres, this analysis is very simple and fast. The wavelength used to measure the concentration of DNA is 260 nm.

The Nanodrop also provides the degree of purity of the sample, by providing the relationships between:

- 260/280: indicates the contamination by proteins if the ratio is bigger than 1.8.
- 260/230: indicates the contamination by carbohydrates and phenol. The optimal value is 2.2 and lower values indicate contamination.

#### 2.2.3 Amplification of the 16S rRNA gene

The genomic DNA extracts from the coelomic fluid was amplified by PCR reaction of 16S rRNA gene. The primers used were the same than in section 2.1.3 (Table 1). The amplification reaction was carried out in a total reaction volume of 30  $\mu$ l, using the following quantities of reagents (Table 7):

Table 7: Master Mix used for the amplification of the 165 rRNA gene form microbial genomic DNA.
---

	Final Conc.	Vol. for 1 rx [µL]	Vol. for 6 rx [µL]
10x PCR reaction buffer	1x	3.0	18
10 mM dNTP mix	200 µM each	0.6	3.6
50 mM MgCl <sub>2</sub>	1.5 μM	0.9	5.4
Primer 16S_27F	0.2 μM	0.6	3.6
Primer 16S_1492R	0.2 μM	0.6	3.6
Template DNA	-	1	-
<i>Taq</i> DNA polymerase (5U/μL)	1.5 units	0.3	1.8
H <sub>2</sub> O sterile	-	23	138
Total	-	30	174

*Taq* DNA polymerase, 10x PCR reaction buffer and 50 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub> (Invitrogen, n°10342-020); dNTP set (Invitrogen, 10297-018). NFW is used as negative control and genomic DNA from *S.coelicolor* as positive control (University sample gave by A.Vassallo).

The programme used for the amplification (Master cycler personal Eppendrof, n°5332 01037) is the following (Table 8):

Table 8: Program used for the amplification of the 16S rRNA gene from microbial genomic DNA.

	Temps	Temperature [°C]	
Initial Denaturation	3 min	94	
Denaturation	45s	ר 94	
Annealing	1 min	50 >	30 cycles
Extension	1.5 min	72 J	
Final extension	10 min	72	

The duration of this program is about 2.2 hours. 2  $\mu$ L of the PCR products were charged on a 1% agarose gel (preparation of the gel is describe in section 2.1.4) and separated by electrophoresis.

#### 2.2.4 Sequencing by minION<sup>™</sup> technology

The sequencing of the metagenomics sample has been realised in the laboratories of the Polyclinic of Palermo, under the supervision of Dr Tripodo C. and the technical support of Dr Arancio W. The extracted products have been sent without preparation. The technology used for the sequencing was named minION<sup>TM</sup> and it was in development. More information on the method used for the preparation of the sample and the analysis can be found on the website of Oxford nanopore technologies [68].

The software used to treat the result is named: What's in my pot (WIMP). It is an EPI2ME workflow for sequence classification. It generates a report that represents the biological diversity present in the sample in real time. The application works on a read-by-read basis by basecalling. WIMP performs real-time taxonomic classification, according to the NCBI taxonomy, by processing MinION<sup>M</sup>. Wherever possible, the reads are placed at the species or sub-species level. If there is not enough information to identify the species, the read is placed at a higher rank of the taxonomic tree. If no placement is reliable enough, the sequence is labelled as "Could not classify sequence". The WIMP report continues to be updated as more reads are processed through the workflow until it is stopped by the user [69].

WIMP is designed to work for any organism for which a reference is available via the NCBI RefSeq database for viruses, bacteria, and fungi [70]. The NCBI taxonomy is used as it is a curated resource based on public sequence databases where users can find details on the organism identified based on a unique NCBI taxonomy ID. Currently, WIMP combines three databases to support identification of bacteria, viruses, and fungi.

The classification method of WIMP relies on a data structure that maps all k-mers of length 24 present in the reference database to nodes in the NCBI taxonomy tree. Due to this pre-processing, new reads can be quickly classified by looking up k-mers (rather than aligning against the original reference). WIMP uses the kraken algorithm [71] to map all k-mers, calculate the LCA (least common ancestor), and filter with a minimum score threshold of 0.001 to determine what is the most likely placement for a query in the taxonomy tree. The output is a taxon ID for which a classification score is computed.

#### **3** Results

#### 3.1 Dependent culture method

#### 3.1.1 Isolation of bacterial strains from coelomic fluid of *P.lividus*

The sea urchin was externally sterilised with a Bunsen and the coelomic fluid was harvesting with sterile syringe. The dilution 10 and 100 fold of coelomic fluid was realised with sterilised seawater. 20  $\mu$ L of each sample were dispensed on MA and the plates were incubated overnight at 30°C. A total of 4.4\*10<sup>5</sup> bacteria isolated/mL was obtained from the coelomic fluid of *P.lividus*. The results obtained are shown on the Figure 9.



Figure 9: Isolation of the strain from the coelomic fluid on MA. (A) No dilution, (B) 1/10 dilution and (C) 1/100 dilution.



Figure 8: Diminution of the MA thickness after 3 weeks at 30°C.

The Figure 8 shows the diminution of the MA thickness after 3 weeks at 30°C caused by the production of hydrolytic enzymes from the isolated strains 1, 4, 5, 6, 7, 9 and 10.

A plate without bacteria has been used to confirm that the diminution of the thickness was not a cause of evaporation. The result obtained shows any difference of thickness.

The phenotypic analysis of pure culture suggested that 12 different bacterial strains have been isolated from the coelomic fluid. The Figure 10 regroups the picture of each clone derived from a pure colony.



Figure 10: Pure colony on MA isolated from coelomic fluid after 5 days at 30°C.

The picture of the Figure 10 was taken after 5 days of incubation at 30°C because the strain 9 needed this period to growth.

The bacterial colonies from the strain 1 to 7 have a light yellow - cream colour and are opaque. The form of the colonies is circular with raised elevation, regular margin and smooth surface. The strain 1 presents a blue luminescence after one night of incubation and non-luminescence after 2 days of incubation. The colonies from the strain 8 and 10 have a light orange colour and are opaque. The form is circular with raised elevation, regular margin and smooth surface. The colonies from the strain 9 have a light pink colour and are translucent. The form is circular with raised elevation, regular margin and rough surface. The colonies from the strain 11 have an intense yellow colour and are opaque. The form of the colonies is irregular with raised elevation, undulate margin and smooth surface. The colonies from the strain 12 have a brown colour and are translucent. The form of the colonies is circular with raised elevation, regular margin and smooth surface.

#### 3.1.2 Colony PCR

A PCR colony was realised for each strains isolated. The region amplified by the primers used is the 16S ribosomal RNA (see Figure 7). The experimental PCR conditions and preparations are detailed in section 2.1.3. The final volume of the reaction is 50  $\mu$ L. 2  $\mu$ L of PCR products were charged on a 1% agarose gel and separated by electrophoresis. The Figure 11 and 12 show the results obtained.



Figure 12: Electrophoretic analysis of colony PCR products (1%, 100V for 1h).Figure 11: Electrophoretic analysis of colony PCR1) DNA ladder mix 2) Negative control 3) Positive controlproducts (1%, 100V for 1h).4-15) Strains 1-121) DNA ladder mix 2) Negative control

3) Positive control 4-5) Strains 2-3

The results obtained for the first amplification of the strain 2 and 3 (Figure 12) were not as expected. The amplification of these 2 strains was repeated. No band is visible in lane 2 (for the both gel used) and confirms that the MM and PCR water are not contaminated. The band at 1500 bp in lane 3 (for the both gel used) confirms that the PCR reaction worked fine and the functionality of the primers used (see section 2.1.3 for more details). The amplified DNA has a length of 1500 nucleotides which is confirmed by the gel electrophoresis.

#### 3.1.3 Purification of amplified DNA



Figure 13: Electrophoretic analysis of colony PCR products after purification. 1-7) Strains 1-7 8) DNA ladder mix

After the PCR colony and before the sending of the samples for the sequencing, a purification step should be realised. This step was realised to eliminate all residues of the reaction and to obtain clear result during the sequencing. The final volumes were 50µL (two elution). 1 µL of PCR products were charged on a 1% agarose gel and separated by electrophoresis. The Figure 13 shows the result obtained after purification of PCR products of the strains 1-7.

The band of 1500 bp obtained in the lanes 1-7 is expected and confirms that the purification step worked well. The results obtained for the strains 8 to 12 were the same, unfortunatly the picture of the result was deleted. The concentration of purified products is almost 20 ng/ $\mu$ L, sufficient for the sequencing.

#### 3.1.4 Sequencing and bioinformatics analysis

The amplified products obtained were sent, after the purification step, to Macrogen Company for the determination of the nucleotides sequence. Two chromatograms of each strain were obtained, one for the amplification with the forward primer (16S\_27F) and one for the amplification with the reverse primer (16S\_1492R). After the selection of the best amplified region (quality and separation of the pics) from each chromatogram, the forward and reverse sequences were aligned with each other in order to reconstruct almost the entire region of the 16S gene and thus to obtain clean sequences.

The entire sequence for each strain was analysed with the online software BLAST to find a correlation between the isolated strain and a microorganism already known (present on the BLAST database).

The phylogenetic tree of all isolated strains was realised with the software MEGA 7. The entire sequence of each strain and the 10 first complementary sequences found with blast were used to build the tree. If a complementary sequence appears more than one time, the double was deleted. The phylogenetic tree obtained is shown in the Figure 14.



Figure 14: Phylogenetic tree of the isolated strains from the coelomic fluid of *P.lividus*.

The phylogenetic tree obtained for the 12 strains isolated shows that 3 different classes of bacteria were present in the coelomic fluid of *P.lividus*. The strain 1 to 8, 11 and 12 belong to the Gamma-Proteobacteria class. The strain 9 belongs to the Spingobacteria class and the strain 10 belongs to the Alpha-Proteobacteria class. The genera of the isolated strains are the following: *Vibrio, Marinobacter, Balneola* and *Oceanibulbus*. The only sequencing of the 16S rRNA region is not enough to determine precisely the species of the isolated strains.

The Figure 15 is a zoom focused on the genus *Marinobacter* (class: Proteobacteria). The isolated strain present in this group is the 11. The species of this strain is close to the species *M.sediminium* with 97% sequence similarity. *M.sediminium* is a marine Gram-negative, aerobic and heterotrophic bacterium. It requires sodium ions for the growth and it is an oxidase- and catalase-positive species. Cells are motile and rod-shaped. It was isolated in marine coastal sediments from Russia, Peter the Great Bay and Sea of Japan [72].



Figure 15: Phylogenetic tree zoomed to show the affiliation of the isolated strain 11 to the genus Marinobacter.

The Figure 16 is a zoom focused on the genus *Balneola* (class: Sphingobacteria). The isolated strain present in this group is the 9. The species of this strain is close to the species *B.alkaliphila* with 99% sequence similarity. *B.alkaliphila* is a marine Gram-negative, aerobic bacterium. It forms pale-orange colonies on MA and cells are non-motile rods. It was isolated from water column in the bay of Banyuls-sur-Mer [73].



Figure 16: Phylogenetic tree zoomed to show the affiliation of the isolated strain 9 to the genus Balneola.

The Figure 17 is a zoom of the genus *Oceanibulbus* (class: Alphaproteobacteria). The isolated strain present in this group is the 10. The species of this strain is close to the species *O.indolifex* with 99% sequence similarity. *O.indolifex* is a marine Gram-negative, strictly aerobic and non-fermentative bacterium. It requires sodium and sea salts for growth. Cells are non-motile irregular rods. It was isolated in the North Sea water from a depth of 10 m [74].



Figure 17: Phylogenetic tree zoomed to show the affiliation of the isolated strain 10 to the genus Oceanibulbus.

The Figure 18 is a zoom focused on the genus Vibrio (class: Gammaproteobacteria). The isolated strains present in this group are the 1 to 8 and the 12. Vibrio genus is one of the most abundant cultivable microorganisms from sea environment [75]. The specie of the strains 4 and 8 is close to V.cyclitrophicus with 99% sequence similarity. V.cyclitrophicus is a marine Gram-negative, anaerobic facultative and motile bacterium and need a defined media using ammonium salts as the sole nitrogen source. This specie was isolated from eagle harbour in Puget Sound, Washington [76]. The specie of the strain 7 is closed to V.renipiscarius with 99% sequence similarity. V.renipiscarius is a marine Gram-negative, anaerobic facultative and motile bacterium. Cells are coccoid to rod-shaped. This specie is able to ferment the glucose without gas production and reduce nitrate to nitrite. It was isolated from cultured gilthead sea bream (S. aurata) [77]. The harveyi clade contains the stain 1, 5, 6 and 12. The species of the strain 5, 6 and 12 are close to V. jasicida with 99% sequence similarity. V. jasicida is a marine Gram-negative bacterium, forms normally no pigmented colonies in MA, and it is responsible of different diseases on sea animals (vibriosis); it was isolated from packhorse lobster phyllosoma with luminous vibriosis [78-79]. The strain 12 presented a brown pigmentation on MA, as V.cholera and V.anguillarium [80-81]. However these two species were not proposed for a good correlation after the blast analysis. The specie of the strain 1 is close to V.owensii with 99% sequence similarity. V.owensii is a marine Gram-negative, anaerobic facultative and motile bacterium. Cells are slightly curved rod (= Vibrio phenotype) [82]. The species of the strain 2 and 3 are close to V.rarus with 99% sequence similarity. V.rarus is a marine Gram-negative, anaerobic facultative, chemoorganotroph and non-motile bacterium. It was isolated from the gut of the Californian red abalone (H. rufescens) [83].



#### 3.1.5 Zymographic analysis

To evaluate the activity of extracellular proteases produced by the isolated strains, 5  $\mu$ L of SGS of each isolated strain (without strain 9 because it was not cultivable in liquid culture, no growth was visible after 5 days of incubation at 30°C and 200 rpm) were added to 5 mL of MB and incubated overnight at 30°C. The cultures were then centrifuged at 1800 G for 20 min at 4°C and the supernatant was recovered. The gel used contains as substrate for the proteases a concentration of 0.54 g/L of gelatine. 15  $\mu$ L of a mix supernatant:loading buffer (1:1) and 8 $\mu$ L of ladder were charged per well for each gel. The duration of the migration was 1h30min.



Figure 19: Zymographic analysis of the isolated strains. Migration parameters: 100 W, 160 V and 15/25 mA 1) SeeBlue ladder 2-9) Strains 1-8 10-12) Strains 10-12

The Figure 19 shows the results obtained for the protease assay. Some bands are visible in lanes 2, 5, 6, 7, 9 and 12 which mean that the spent medium of these strains contains proteases and these enzymes are actives at room temperature. The spent medium of the sample 3, 4, 8, 10 and 11 does not contain proteases; no band is visible in these lanes. This analysis is qualitative and the ladder is used as indication. It is not possible to determine precisely which kinds of enzymes are present with this assay.

#### 3.1.6 Native SDS-Page

To evaluate the production of extracellular enzymes by the isolated strains, 5  $\mu$ L of SGS of each isolated strain (without strain 9, same reason as section 3.1.5) were added in 5 mL of MB and incubated overnight at 30°C. The cultures were then centrifuged at 1800 G during 20 min at 4°C and 2 mL of the supernatant was lyophilised and resuspended in 150  $\mu$ L of demineralised water (concentration 13.3x). 15  $\mu$ L of a mix supernatant concentrated:loading buffer (1:1) and 8 $\mu$ L of ladder were charged per well for each gel. The duration of the migration was 2 hours.



Figure 20: Native SDS-Page of the isolated strains. Migration parameters: 100 W, 160 V and 15/25 mA 1) SeeBlue ladder 2-9) Strains 1-8 10-12) Strains 10-12

The Figure 20 shows the results obtained for the native SDS-Page analysis. Some bands are visible in the lane of all isolated strains (difficult to see on the Figure 20). The spent medium of all isolated strains (without strain 9, same reason as section 3.1.5) contains extracellular proteins after 24 hours of culture in MB at 30°C. This analysis is qualitative and the ladder is used as indication. It is not possible to determine precisely which kinds of proteins are present with this assay. However, the experiment to identify by mass spectrometry the kinds of protein produced is in progress (in Naples).

#### 3.1.7 Assay of cellulase activity

To evaluate the activity of extracellular cellulases produced by the isolated strains, 5  $\mu$ L of SGS of each isolated strain (without strain 9, same reason as section 3.1.5) were added in 5 mL of MB and incubated overnight at 30°C. The cultures were then centrifuged at 1800 G for 20 min at 4°C and 2 mL of the supernatant was lyophilised and resuspended in 150  $\mu$ L of demineralised water (concentration 13.3x). The gel used contains as substrate for the cellulases a concentration of 0.2% (w/v) of CMC. 15  $\mu$ L of a mix supernatant concentrated:loading buffer (1:1) and 8 $\mu$ L of ladder were charged per well for each gel. The positive control used is a cellulase produce by a strain of *A.niger*. The duration of the migration was 1h30min.



Figure 21: Cellulase assay. Migration parameters: 100 W, 160 V and 15/25 mA. 1) SeeBlue ladder 2) Positive control 3-10) Strains 1-8 11-13) Strains 10-12

The Figure 21 shows the results obtain for the cellulase assay. The bands visible on the lane 2 are expected and confirm that the test work well for a qualitative detection of cellulase secreted. No band is visible on the lane of each sample, the spent medium of isolated strains don't contain active cellulase at RT.

#### 3.1.8 Assay of esterase activity

To evaluate the activity of extracellular esterases produced by the isolated strains, 5  $\mu$ L of SGS of each isolated strain (without strain 9, same reason as 3.1.5) were added in 5 mL of MB and incubated overnight at 30°C. The cultures were then centrifuged at 1800 G for 20 min at 4°C and 15  $\mu$ L of the supernatant was plated as a drop on agar plates containing ester myristate. The plates were incubated at 37°C overnight.



Figure 22: Esterases assay on agar plate containing ester myristate after an overnight incubation at 37°C. 1-12) Strains 1-12 -) Negative control +) Zoom on the strain 1

The Figure 22 shows the results obtained for the esterases assay. A clear halo has been observed for the isolated strains 1, 4, 5, 6 and 8 which mean that the spent medium of these bacterial strains contain esterases and these enzymes are active at 37°C. The red circle is used to show the positive result because it is difficult to see them directly from the pictures. The picture + is a zoom on the strain 1, a clear halo is actually visible. The spent medium of the strains 2, 3, 7, 10, 11 and 12 does not contain any esterases, no clear halo is visible in the delimited space. This analysis is qualitative; it is not possible to determine precisely which kinds of enzymes are present with this assay.

#### 3.1.9 Assay of lipases activity

To evaluate the activity of lipases produced by the isolated strains, 5  $\mu$ L of SGS of each strain were plated on MA containing rhodamine-B and olive oil (substrate for lipases) and incubated 10 days at 30°C. The lecture of the results was realised under UV lamp.



Figure 23: Lipases assay on MA containing rhodamine-B and olive oil after 10 days of incubation at 30°C. 1-12) Strains 1-12

The Figure 23 shows the results obtained for the lipase assay. An orange-pink fluorescent is visible for the delimited spaces (formed by the colonies) 1, 4, 5, 6, 11 and 12 which mean that these bacterial strains produce lipase and these enzymes are actives at 30°C. The bacterial culture of the sample 2, 3, 8, 9 and 10 don't contain lipase; no orange-pink fluorescent is visible in the delimited space. For the strain 7, no growth is visible. This strain is probably lipid intolerant. This analysis is qualitative; it is not possible to determine precisely which kinds of enzymes are present with this assay.

#### 3.1.10 Antimicrobial assay

To determine if the isolated strains produce antibacterial compounds, two assays were realised in soft agar: the first one with a strain of *Escherichia coli* (Gram-negative bacteria) and the second one with a strain of *Kocuria rhizophila* (Gram-positive bacteria). A plug of 2 cm of diameter from the culture of each isolated strain was placed on the soft agar containing the tester strains and the plates were incubated overnight at 37°C.



Figure 24: Antimicrobial assay with a Gram-negative strain (*E.coli*) in soft agar. Incubation overnight at 37°C. 1-12) Strains 1-12



Figure 25: Antimicrobial assay with a Gram-positive strain (*K.rhizophila*) in soft agar. Incubation overnight at 37°C. 1-12) Strains 1-12

The Figure 24 and 25 show the results obtained for these two assays. The bacterial strains *E.coli* and *K.rhizophila* have been chose because these two strains are commonly used for antimicrobial assays. The isolated strains don't produce any antibacterial compound against Gram-negative and Grampositive bacteria; no clear halos are visible around the culture circle of each strain.

#### **3.1.11 Summary of the results**

The table 9 provides an overview of the results obtained with the culture dependent method. For more details see the correspondent section.

Ide (sect. 3	entification 3.1.1 and 3.1.4)		Extracellula (sect. 3	ar enzymes .1.5-9)		Antim (sect	icrobial . 3.1.9)
Strains	Closed to	Proteases	Cellulases	Esterases	Lipases	E.coli	K.rhizophila
1	V.owensii	+		+	+		
2	V.rarus	-		-	-		
3	V.rarus	-		-	-		
4	V.cyclitrophicus	+		+	+		
5	V.jasicida	+	-	+	+		
6	V.jasicida	+		+	+		
7	V.renipiscarius	-		-	NA	-	-
8	V.cyclitrophicus	+		+	-		
9	B.alkaliphila	NA	NA	NA	-		
10	O.indolifex	-		-	-		
11	M.sediminum	-	-	-	+		
12	V.jasicida	+		-	+		

#### Table 9: Summary of the results obtained with the culture dependent method.

#### Independent culture method 3.2

#### 3.2.1 DNA extraction



After the harvesting of the coelomic fluid from 3 different *P.lividus*, the DNA present in each sample was extracted following the method in section 2.2.1. 10 µL of sample were charged in a 1% agarose gel and separated by electrophoresis. The Figure 26 shows the results obtained.

The band at 23 kb in lanes 2, 3 and 4 represents the total DNA and confirms that the protocol for extraction worked fine. The extract DNA has been quantified following the method in section 2.2.2. The results obtained are the following:

Table 10: Quantification of the DNA extracted.

N° Extraction	DNA conc. [ng/µL]
1	13.7
2	25.8
3	29.5

The ratio 260/280 and 260/230 were as expected and confirm that the DNA samples were not contaminated by proteins, carbohydrates and phenol.

Figure 26: Electrophoretic analysis of the DNA extracted from the coelomic fluid of *P.lividus* (1%, 100V for 60 min). 1) Marker 2 in bp 2-4) Extraction 1-3

#### 3.2.2 Amplification of the 16S rRNA gene

\_



amplified products of extraction (1%, 100V for 1h). 5) Positive control

To confirm the presence of bacterial DNA, a PCR reaction was realised with the product of extraction. The region amplified by the primers used is the 16S ribosomal RNA. The experimental PCR conditions and preparations are detailed in section 2.2.3. The final volume of the reaction is 30 µL. 1 µL of PCR products were charged on a 1% agarose gel and separated by electrophoresis. The Figure 27 shows the results obtained.

Figure 27: Electrophoresis analysis of the The band at 1500 bp in lane 5 confirms that the PCR reaction worked fine and the functionality of the primers 1) DNA ladder 2-4) Extraction 1-3 used (16S\_27F and 16S\_1492R). This band is more below in the lane than the other because the positive control was

charged before the sample to test the viability of the loading buffer. The amplified 16S DNA has a length of 1500 nucleotides which is confirmed by the electrophoresis gel.

#### 3.2.3 Sequencing by minION<sup>™</sup> technology

The results of DNA sequencing obtained in the laboratory of Dr Tripodo, Polyclinic of Palermo, for one DNA sample are reported in Figure 28 (the sequencing of others samples is in progress). The Figure 28 shows the phylogenetic tree constructed online by the minION<sup>™</sup> system and the abundance relative of each strain present. The reading of the tree was stopped at the genus level.



Figure 28: Phylogenetic tree and relative abundance of each strain obtained after the sequencing, by minION™ technologies.

Two different genus of yeast were found, the genus *Aspergillus* and *Nauvomozyma* (both belonging to Ascomycota). The bacterial strains represented, at the genus level, are the following: *Lactococcus* and *Clostridium* (both belonging to Firmicutes); *Phytoplasma* and *Mycoplasma* (both belonging to Tenericutes); *Corynebacterium* (belonging to Actinobacteria); *Vibrio, Escherichia, Advenella* and *Sorangium* (all belonging to Proteobacteria); *Prochlorococcus* (belonging to Cyanobacteria); *Mesotoga* (belonging to Thermotogae); *Thermodesulfatator* (belonging to Thermodesulfobacteria); *Melioribacter* (belonging to Ignavibacteria); *Ilyobacter* (belonging Fusobacteria). And two different genus of Archaea were found, *Methanocella* and *Methanococcus* (both belonging to Euryarchaeota). However, the sequencing of more than one sample is necessary to identify the most represented genera in the coelomic fluid of *P.lividus*.

#### 4 Discussion and conclusion

The quantity of coelomic fluid inside a healthy sea urchin adult is about 8-12 mL and corresponds to more than 70% of the internal space of the test, which appears to be involved in the defence of the internal organs [84]. To live and survive, the sea urchin has to be able to defend itself against the external predators and also against pathogen microorganisms present in the marine environment that can enter inside the test cavity [85-86]. In this case, this invertebrate has developed defence responses based primarily on immune cells and humoral factors present in the coelomic fluid [83]. The presence of five different types of cells in the coelomic fluid, classified as amebocytes, haemocytes, spherical cells, progenitor cells and crystal cells, and responsible for a wide range of functions such as cell recognition, phagocytosis, cytotoxicity, antibacterial activity and inflammatory reactions made coelomic fluid is considered sterile [60 and 87-90].

With this work, it was confirmed [61] that the coelomic fluid of the sea urchin species belonging to the Mediterranean *Paracentrotus lividus*, has its bacterial microbiota and that microbiota produces some extracellular enzymes as protease, lipases and esterases. No active cellulase and antimicrobial substance have been found from these isolates.

The presence of bacteria in coelomic fluid was demonstrated with two different approaches: culturedependent and culture-independent method. The first approach has allowed the identification of species closely related to the genus: *Vibrio, Marinobacter, Balneola* and *Oceanibulbus*. Among these, 9 isolated strains are from *Vibrio* genus and one strain represents each other genus. The bacterial phyla identified by this approach are *Proteobacteria* and *Bacteriodetes*. These two phyla were also isolated from the coelomic fluid of *P.lividus* collected in a different geographic area, during the first study [61]. The culture-independent approach has partially confirmed the results of the culturedependent approach. Indeed, only the *Vibrio* genus was found equally present in the metagenomics sample sequenced. However, just one of the metagenomics DNA samples was sequenced and the culture dependent method was realised on MA. In addition, as only 1- 1.5% of the bacteria are cultivable, the culture-independent approach provides knowledge on microorganisms that cannot grow in the laboratory, but that may be present in major proportion in the sample analysed.

The independent culture analysis has also identified bacterial phyla not isolated by the culturedependent method, as *Firmicutes, Tenericutes, Actinobacteria, Cyanobacteria, Thermosulfobacteria, Ignavibacteria* and *Fusobacteria*. One phylum of Archaea, *Euryarchaeota* has been sequenced. The genera isolated from this phylum (i.e. *Methanococcus*) are known to be present in polluted water as mudflat [91]. Two different genera of yeast (belonging to *Ascomycota*) were also found with this second method. Nevertheless, this strain derives probably from the environmental pollution because these strains are known to be ubiquitous [92].

Preliminary data have shown that the microbiota isolated from the coelomic fluid of *P.lividus* don't produce antimicrobial substance against Gram-negative and Gram-positive strains as *E.coli* or *K.rhizophila*. However, it can be interesting in the future to realise this assay with some marine bacterial strains to determine if specific protein are produce to inhibit these strains or to improve the condition of growth as symbiosis model.

The assays realised in this study to characterise the extracellular products of the isolated strains were qualitative. The results obtained show that different enzymes are secreted and active at room temperature. A more precise characterisation using specific substrates, inhibitors, different temperatures and a mass spectrometric analysis has to be realised to identify which kinds of enzyme are produced and determine if these products that could be exploited in biotechnological process.

In addition, studies on interactions between microorganism and marine organisms are providing additional tools to understand phenomena of symbiosis, development and morphogenesis. It has been shown that some strains belonging to the genus *Pseudoalteromonas*, promote the larval settlement of a species of sea urchin, *Heliocidaris erythrogramma* [93]. This specie has a direct development, from the larva formed to the adult forms, instead of a first passing through an intermediate stage, as for *P.lividus*. Then it would be interesting to determine which role has the bacterial microbiota contained in the coelomic fluid for the development and morphogenesis of *Paracentrotus lividus* larvae and investigate which kind of bacterial strains are present during the first hours of the fecundation of the eggs.

The sea urchin is an organism used in many scientific and economical fields as marine ecology, fishery and molecular embryology. That is why, generate detailed information on this issue has a big interest. In conclusion, the results obtained show that the coelomic fluid of *P.lividus* contains its own microbiota and can be helpful to understand the biological functions of this fluid.

#### **References**

- [1] Lederberg J. and McCray A. T., Ome Sweet Omics a genealogical treasury of words, Scientist, 2001 15: 8.
- [2] Schmidt T. M., DeLong E. F. and Pace N. R., Analysis of a marine picoplankton community by 16S rRNA gene cloning and sequencing, J. Bacteriol., 1991 Jul 173(14): 4371-8.
- [3] Peterson J., Garges S., Giovanni M., McInnes P., Wang L., Schloss J.A., Bonazzi V., McEwen J. E., Wetterstrand K. A., Deal C., Baker C. C., Di Francesco V, Howcroft T. K., Karp R. W., Lunsford R. D., Wellington C. R., Belachew T., Wright M., Giblin C., David H., Mills M., Salomon R., Mullins C., Akolkar B., Begg L, Davis C., Grandison L., Humble M., Khalsa J., Little A. R., Peavy H., Pontzer C., Portnoy M., Sayre M. H., Starke-Reed P., Zakhari S., Read J., Watson B. and Guyer M., The NIH human microbiome project, Genome Res., 2009 Dec 19(12): 2317-2323.
- [4] **National human genome research institute**, The human genome project completion: Frequently asked question, https://www.genome.gov/11006943/human-genome-project-completion-frequently-asked-questions/, 06.06.2016.
- [5] Ezenwa V. O., Gerardo N. M. Inouye D. W., Medina M. and Xavier J. B., Animal behaviour and the microbiome, Science, 2012 Oct 338.
- [6] **Kansikas M.**, The little big microbiota, Healthcare and life science, 2016 Feb, http://www.prescouter.com/2016/02/the-little-big-microbiota/, 07.07.2016.
- [7] Gomez F., Monsalve G. C., Tse V., Saiki R., Weng E., Lee L., Srinivasan C., Frand A.R. and Clarke C.F., Delayed accumulation of intestinal coliform bacteria enhances life span and stress resistance in *Caenorhabditis elegans* fed respiratory deficient E. col, BMC Microbiol., 2012 Dec 20 12: 300.
- [8] **Relman D. A.**, New technologies, human-microbe interactions, and the search for previously unrecognized pathogens, J. Infect. Dis., 2002 Dec 1; 186 2: S254-8.
- [9] **Bravo-Blas A.**, Wessel H. and Milling S., Microbiota and arthritis: correlations or cause? , Curr. Opin. Rheumatol., 2016 Mar 28(2): 161-7.
- [10] **Gomez-Hurtado I., Such J.** and **Francès R.**, Microbiome and bacterial translocation in cirrhosis, Gastroenterol. Hepatol., 2016 Jan pii: S0210-5705(15)00290-3.
- [11] Cribbs S. K., Uppal K., Li S., Jones D.P., Huang L., Tipton L., Fitch A., Greenblatt R. M., Kingsley L., Guidot D. M., Ghedin E. and Morris A., Correlation of the lung microbiota with metabolic profiles in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid in HIV infection, Microbiome, 2016 Jan 20; 4(1): 3.
- [12] Qin J., Li Y., Cai Z., Li S., Zhu J., Zhang F., Liang S., Zhang W., Guan Y, Shen D., Peng Y., Zhang D., Jie Z., Wu W., Qin Y., Xue W., Li J., Han L., Lu D., Wu P., Dai Y., Sun X., Li Z., Tang A., Zhong S., Li X., Chen W., Xu R., Wang M., Feng Q., Gong M., Yu J., Zhang Y., Zhang M, Hansen T., Sanchez G., Raes J., Falony G., Okuda S., Almeida M., LeChatelier E., Renault P., Pons N., Batto J.-M., Zhang Z., Chen H., Yang R., Zheng W., Li S., Yang H., Wang J., Ehrlich S. D., Nielsen R., Pedersen O., Kristiansen K. and Wang J., A metagenome-wide association study of gut microbiota in type 2 diabetes, Nature, 2012 Oct 490: 55–60.

- [13] Ruth E. L., Obesity and the human microbiome, Curr. Opin. Gastroenterology, 2010 Jan 26(1): 5-11.
- [14] Bulgarelli D., Schlaeppi K., Spaepen S., Ver Loren van Thermaat E. and Schulze-Lefert P., Structure and functions of the bacterial microbiota of plants, Annu. rev. Plant boil., 2013 Jan 64: 807-38.
- [15] Behzad H., Augusto I. M., Mineta K. and Gojobori T., Metagenomics studies of the Red Sea, Gene, 2015 Oct 576: 717-723.
- [16] Munn C., Marine microbiology ecology and application, 2<sup>nd</sup> edition, 2011 Mar, ISBN 9780815365174.
- [17] Zaballos M., López-López A., Ovreas L., Galán Bartual S., D'Auria G., Alba J. C., Legault B., Pushker R., Daae F. L. and Rodríguez-Valera F, Comparison of prokaryotic diversity at offshore oceanic locations reveals a different microbiota in the Mediterranean Sea, MIcrobiol. Ecology, 2006 Jun 56; 3: 389-405.
- [18] Fuhrman J. A., McCallum K. and Davis A. A., Novel major archaebacterial group from marine plankton, Nature, 1992 Mar 12; 356(6365): 148-9.
- [19] Whitman W. B., Coleman D. C. and Wiebe W. J., Prokaryotes: the unseen majority, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 1998 Jun 9; 95(12): 6578-83.
- [20] Schut F., Prins R. A. and Gottschal J. C., Oligotrophy and pelagic marine bacteria: Facts and fiction, Aqua. Micro. Eco., 1997 Apr 12; 2: 177-202.
- [21] Brooks J. F. 2nd, Gyllborg M. C., Cronin D. C:, Quillin S. J., Mallama C. A., Foxall R., Whistler C., Goodman A. L. and Mandel M. J., Global discovery of colonization determinants in the squid symbiont Vibrio fischeri, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A., 2014 Dec 2; 111(48): 17284-9.
- [22] Taylor M. W., Radax R., Steger D. and Wagner M., Sponge-associated microorganisms: evolution, ecology, and biotechnological potential. Microbiol. Mol. Biol., 2007 Jun 71(2): 295-347.
- [23] Usher K. M., Toze S., Fromont J., Kuo J. and Sutton D. C., A new species of cyanobacterial symbiont from the marine sponge Chondrilla nucula, Symbiosis, 2004 36: 183–192.
- [24] Sunagawa S., Woodley C. M. and Medina M., Threatened corals provide underexplored microbial habitats, PLoS One, 2010 Mar e9554.
- [25] Freeman C. J. and Thacker R. W., Complex interactions between marine sponges and their symbiotic microbial communities, Limnol. Oceanogr., 2011 Jul 56: 1577–1586.
- [26] Erwin P. M., Pineda M. C., Webster N., Turon X. and Lopez-Legentil S., Down under the tunic: bacterial biodiversity hotspots and widespread ammonia-oxidizing archaea in coral reef ascidians, The ISME Journal, 2014 8: 575–588.
- [27] Webster N. S. and Taylor M. W., Marine sponges and their microbial symbionts: love and other relationships, Environmental Microbiology, 2012 Feb 14(2): 335–346.

- [28] Wilkinson C. R., Net primary productivity in coral reef sponges, Science, 1983 Jan 219: 410–412.
- [29] Schmidt E. W., Obraztsova A. Y., Davidson S. K., Faulkner D. J. and Haygood M. G., Identification of the antifungal peptide-containing symbiont of the marine sponge Theonellaswinhoei as a novel delta-proteobacterium, *Candidatusentotheonella palauensis*, Marine Biology, 2000 Jul 136: 969–977.
- [30] **Taylor M. W., Thacker R. W.** and **Hentschel U.**, Evolutionary insights from sponges, Science, 2007 Jun 29 316(5833): 1854–1855.
- [31] Fan L., Reynolds D., Liu M., Stark M., Kjelleberg S., Webster N. S. and Thomas T, Functional equivalence and evolutionary convergence in complex communities of microbial sponge symbionts, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A., 2012 Jul 109: E1878–E1887.
- [32] Webster N. S., Taylor M. W., Behnam F., Lücker S., Rattei T., Whalan S., Horn M. and Wagner M., Deep sequencing reveals exceptional diversity and modes of transmission for bacterial sponge symbionts, Environ. Microbiol., 2010 Aug 12(8): 2070–2082.
- [33] Freeman M. F., Gurgui C., Helf M. J., Morinaka B. I., Uria A. R., Oldham N. J., Sahl H. G., Matsunaga S. and Piel J., Metagenome mining reveals polytheonamides as posttranslationally modified ribosomal peptides, Science, 2012 Oct 19; 338(6105): 387–90.
- [34] **Pawlik J.R.**, The chemical ecology of sponges on Caribbean reefs: natural products shape natural systems, Bio. Science, 2011 61; 11: 888–898.
- [35] Erwin P. M., Lopez-Legentil S. and Schuhmann P. W., The pharmaceutical value of marine biodiversity for anti-cancer drug discovery, Ecol. Econ., 2010 Dec 70; 2: 445–451.
- [36] Martinez-Garcia M., Diaz-Valdes M., Wanner G., Ramos-Espla A. and Anton J., Microbial community associated with the colonial ascidian *Cystodytes dellechiajei*, Environ. Microbiol., 2007 Feb 9(2): 521–534.
- [37] Distel D. L. and Wood A. P., Characterization of the gill symbiont of *Thyasira flexuosa* (Thyasiridae: Bivalvia) by use of polymerase chain reaction and 16S rRNA sequence analysis, J. Bacteriol., 1992 Oct 174(19):6317–20.
- [38] Young-Woo K., Moriyoshi Y., Akihiko Y., Tairo O. and Suguru O., Characterization of the Endosymbiont of a deep-sea bivalve, *Calyptogena soyoae*, App. Env. Microbiol., 1995 Feb 61; 2: 823-827.
- [39] Muraoka D. D., Managing the sea urchin fishery: an economic perspective, Nat. Resour. J., 1990 30, 139.
- [40] **McClay D. R.**, Evolutionary crossroads in developmental biology: sea urchins, Development, 2011 Jul 138(13): 2639-48.
- [41] Hakim J. A., Koo H., Dennis L. N., Kumar R., Ptacek T., Morrow C. D., Lefkowitz E. J., Powell M. L., Bej A. K and Watts S. A., An abundance of Epsilonproteobacteria revealed in the gut microbiome of the laboratory cultured sea urchin, *Lytechinus variegatus*, Front Microbiol. 2015 Oct 6: 1047.

- [42] Lawrence J., Lawrence A. and Watts S., Feeding, digestion and digestibility of sea urchin, Sea Urchins: Biology and Ecology, ed Lawrence J. M. (Oxford UK Elsevier), 2013 135-154.
- [43] Lamarck, Histoire naturelle des animaux sans vertèbres, printed by l'imprimerie d'Abel Lanoe, 1816 Aug tome 3.
- [44] **Lawrence J. M.**, Edible sea urchins: biology and ecology, printed by Elsevier, 2007 2<sup>nd</sup> edition volume 37 chapter 13, pages 243-275.
- [45] Personal pictures took from the Palermo's University.
- [46] Murillo-Navarro R. and Jimenez-Guirado D., Relationships between algal food and gut and gonads conditions in the Mediterranean sea urchin *Paracentrotus lividus* (Lam.), Medit. Mar. Sci., 2012 Jun 13/2 227-238.
- [47] Kamei N. and Glabe C. G., The specific-specific egg receptor for sea urchin sperm adhesion is EBR1, a novel ADAMTS protein, Genes Dev., 2003 Oct 15; 17(20): 2502-2507.
- [48] **Sartori D.**, Echinoculture: rearing of *Paracentrotus lividus* in recirculating aquaculture system. Experimentations of artificial diets for sexual maturation, PhD thesis from the Napoli's University.
- [49] **Secci M.**, Development of scientifically base management towards a sustainable fishery of the common sea urchin, *Paracentrotus lividus*, in Sardinia, PhD thesis from the Calgari's University.
- [50] **Delmas P.** and **Régis M. B.**, Impact de la pollution domestique sur la biologie et la morphométrie de l'Echinoïde Paracentrotus lividus (Lamarck), Sciences de la vie, 1995 300(4): 143-146.
- [51] Barillé-Boyer A. L., Gruet Y., Barillé L. and Harin N., Temporal changes in community structure of tides pools following the "Erika" oil spill, Aquat. Living Resour., 2004 Mar 17: 323-328.
- [52] **Boudouresque C. F.** and **Verlaque M.**, Ecology of Paracentrotus lividus in: Edible sea urchins: biology and ecology, Lawrence J. (ed.), Elsevier publ., 2001 Amsterdam: 177-216.
- [53] **McBride S. C.**, Sea Urchin Aquaculture, American Fisheries Society Symposium, 2005 46:179-208.
- [54] Walker C. W., Unuma T., McGinn N. A., Harrington L. M. and Lesser M. P., Reproduction of sea urchin, In: Edible Sea Urchins: Biology and Ecology vol. 32, Lawrence J. (ed.), Elsevier, 2001 Amsterdam: 5-26.
- [55] **Carboni S., Hughes A. D., Atack T., Tocher D. R.** and **Migaud H.**, Fatty acid profiles during gametogenesis in sea urchin (*Paracentrotus lividus*): effects of dietary inputs on gonad, egg and embryo profiles, Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. Mol. Integr. Physiol., 2013 Feb 164(2): 376-82.
- [56] **Endean R.**, The coelomocytes and coelomic fluids, in Physiology of Echinodermata, ed. R.A. Boolootian (Interscience Publishers), 1966 New York: 301–328.
- [57] **Farmanfarmaian A.**, The respiratory physiology of echinoderms, in physiology of echinodermata, ed. R.A. Boolootian (Interscience Publishers), 1966 NewYork: 245–266.
- [58] Holland L. Z., Giese A. C. and Phillips J. H., Studies on the perivisceral coelomic fluid protein concentration during seasonal and nutritional changes in the purple sea urchin, Comp. Biochem. Physiol., 1967 21: 361–371.

- [59] Smith L. C., Host responses to bacteria: innate immunity in invertebrates, in the influence of cooperative bacteria on animal host biology, Advances in molecular and cellular microbiology, ed. McFall<sup>®</sup>Ngai M., Ruby N., Henderson B. (Cambridge University Press), 2005 10:293<sup>®</sup> 320.
- [60] Smith L. C., Ghosh J., Buckley K. M., Clow L. A., Dheilly N. M., Haug T., Henson J. H., Li C., Lun C. M., Majeske A. J., Matranga V., Nair S. V., Rast J. P., Raftos D. A., Roth M., Sacchi S., Schrankel C. S. and Stensvåg K., Echinoderm immunity, Adv. Exp. Med. Biol., 2010 708: 260-301.
- [61] Faddetta T., Palazzotto E., Faillaci F., Catania C., Strati F., De Filippo C., Spinelli G., Gallo Giuseppe, Puglia A. M. and Cavalieri V., Survey of the bacterial microbiota associated with the coelomic fluid of the sea urchin *Paracentrotus lividus*, manuscript in preparation.
- [62] Lane D. J., 16S/23S rRNA sequencing, E. stackenrandtM Goodfellow, Nucleic acid techniques in bacterial systematics, John Wiley & Sons, 1991 New York: 115 -176.
- [63] **Renvoisé A.**, Applicabilité de la PCR "universelle" 16S comme outil d'identification et de détection bactérienne en laboratoire hospitalier de bactériologie, PhD thesis from the Aix-Marseille's University.
- [64] **Picture of the 16S rRNA region** used by specific primers for the amplification of prokaryotic DNA, http://www.macrogen.com/eng/business/seq\_16s\_rRNA\_sequencing.html, 13.07.2016.
- [65] **BLAST** online software developed by NCBI (National Center for Biotechnology Information), http://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi?CMD=Web&PAGE\_TYPE=BlastHome, 01.08.2016.
- [66] Tamura K., Peterson D., Peterson N., Stecher Glen, Nei M. and Kumar S., MEGA5: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis using maximum Likelihood, evolutionary distance, and maximum parsimony methods, Mol. Biol. Evol., 2011 May 28(10): 2731-2739.
- [67] **Sambrook J., Fritsch E.F.** and **Maniatis T.**, Molecular Cloning a laboratory manual, printed by CSH, 1989 2<sup>nd</sup> edition, pages 18.47-18.59.
- [68] Oxford nanopore technologies, https://nanoporetech.com/, 24.09.2016.
- [69] Juul S.; Izquierdo F., Hurst A., Dai X., Wright A., Kulesha E., Pettett R. and Turner D. J., What's in my pot? Real-time species identification on the MinION<sup>™</sup>, bioRxiv, 2015 Nov 6 (doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1101/030742 (05.10.2016)).
- [70] O'Leary n. A., Wright M. W., Brister R. J., Ciufo S., Haddad D., McVeigh R., Rajput B., Robbertse B., Smith-White B., Ako-Adjei D., Astashyn A., Badretdin A, Bao Y., Blinkova O., Brover V., Chetvernin V., Choi J., Cox E., Ermolaeva O., Farrell C. M., Goldfarb T., Gupta T., Haft D., Hatcher E., Hlavina W., Joardar V. S., Kodali V. K., Li W., Maglott D., Masterson P., McGarvey K. M., Murphy M. R., O'Neill K., Pujar S., Rangwala S. H., Rausch D., Riddick L. D., Schoch C., Shkeda A., Storz S. S:, Sun H., Thibaud-Nissen F., Tolstoy I., Tully R. E., Vatsan A. R., Wallin C., Webb D., Wu W., Landrum M. J., Kimchi A., Tatusova T., DiCuccio M., Kitts P., Murphy T. D. and Pruitt K. D., Reference sequence (RefSeq) database at NCBI: current status, taxonomic expansion, and functional annotation, Nucleic Acids Research, 2016 44: D733-D745.
- [71] Wood D. E. and Salzberg S., Kraken: ultrafast metagenomic sequence classification using exact alignements, Genome Biolgy, 2014 15: R46.
- [72] Romanenko L. A., Schumann P., Rohde M., Zhukova N. V., Mikhailov V. V. and Stackebrandt E., Marinobacter bryozoorum sp. nov. and Marinobacter sediminum sp. nov., novel bacteria from the marine environement, Int. J. Syst. Evol. Micr., 2005 55: 143-148.

- [73] Urios L., Intertaglia L., Lesongeur F. and Lebaron P., *Balneola alkaliphila* sp. nov., a marine bacterium isolated from the Mediterranean Sea, Int. J. Syst. Evol. Micr., 2008 58: 1288-1291.
- [74] Wagner-Döbler I., Rheims H., Felske A., El-Ghezal A., Flade-Schröder D., Laatsch H., Lang S., Pukall R and Tindall J., Oceanibulbus indolifex gen. nov., sp. nov., a North Sea alphaproteobacterium that produces bioactive metabolites, Int. J. Syst. Evol. Micr., 2004 54: 1177-1184.
- [75] Stabili L., Giangrande A., Pizzolante G., Caruso G. and Pietro A., Characterization of Vibrios diversity in the mucus of the polychaete *Myxicola infundibulum* (Annellida, Polichaeta), Microb. Ecol., 2014 67: 186-194.
- [76] **Hedlund B. P.** and **Staley T.**, *Vibrio cyclotophicus* sp. nov., a polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon (PAH)-degrading marine bacterium, Int. J. Syst. Evol. Micr., 2001 51: 61-66.
- [77] Tarazona E., Ruvira M. A., Lucena T., Macian C., Arahal D. R. and Pujalte M. J., Vibrio renipiscarius sp. nov., isolated from cultured gilthead sea bream (*Sparus aurata*), Int. J. Syst. Evol. Micr., 2015 65: 1941-1945.
- [78] **Chatterjee S.** and **Haldar S.**, *Vibrio* related diseases in aquaculture and development of rapid and accurate identification methods, J. Marine Sci. Res. Dev., 2012 8:1.
- [79] Yoshizawa S., Tsuruya Y., Fukui Y., Sawabe T., Yokota A., Kogure K., Higgins M., Carson J. and Thompson F. L., Vibrio jasicida sp. nov., a member of the Harveyi clade, isolated from marine animals (packhorse lobster, abalone and Atlantic salmon), Int. J. Syst. Evol. Micr., 2012 62: 1864-1870.
- [80] Valeru S. P., Rompikuntal P. K., Ishikawa T., Vaitkevicius K, Sjöling A., Dolganov N., Zhu J., Schoolnik G. and Wai S. N., Role of melanin pigment in expression of *Vibrio cholerae* virulence factors, Infect. Immun., 2009 Mar 77(3):935-942.
- [81] Myhr E., Larsen J. L., Lillehaug A., Gudding R., Heum M. and Håstein T., Characterization of Vibrio anguillarum and closely related species isolated from farmed fish in Norway, Appl. Environ. Microbiol., 1991 Sep 57(9): 2750-2757.
- [82] Cano-Gómez A., Goulden E. F., Owens L. and Høj L., Vibrio owensii sp. nov., isolated from cultures crustaceans in Australia, FEMS Microbiol. Lett., 2010 302: 175-181.
- [83] Sawabe T., Fujimura Y., Niwa K. and Aono H., Vibrio comitans sp. nov., Vibrio rarus sp. nov. and Vibrio inusitatus sp. nov., from the gut of the abalones Haliotis discus discus, H.gigantea, H.madaka and H.rufescens, Int. J. Syst. Evol. Micr., 2007 57: 916-922.
- [84] Giga Y., Sutoh K. and Ikai A., A new multimeric Hemagglutinin from the coelomic fluid of the sea urchin *Anthocidaris crassispina*, biochemistry, 1985 24: 4461-4467
- [85] Fasoli E., D'Amato A., Righetti P. G., Barbieri R. and Bellavia D., Exploration of the sea urchin coelomic fluid via combinatorial peptide ligand libraries, Biol. Bull., 2012 Apr 222: 93-104.
- [86] Gross P. S., Al-Sharif W. Z., Clow L. A. and Smith L. C., Echinoderm immunity and the evolution of the complement system, Dev. Comp. Immunol., 1999 Jun-Jul 23(4-5): 429-42.
- [87] Arizza V., Giaramita F. T., Parrinello D., Cammarata M. and Pareeinello N., Cell cooperation in coelomocyte cytotoxic activity of *Paracentrotus lividus* coelomocytes, Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. Mol. Integr. Physiol., 2007 Jun 147(2): 389-94.

- [88] **Faria M. T.** and **Silva J. R.**, Innate immune response in the sea urchin Echinometra Lucunter (Echinodermata), J. Invertebr. Pathol., 2008 May 98(1): 58-62.
- [89] **Deveci R., Sener E.** and **Izzetoğlu S.**, Morphological and ultrastructural characterization of sea urchin immune cells, J. Morphol., 2015 May 276(5): 583-8.
- [90] **Stabili L., Pagliara P.** and **Roch P.**, Antibacterial activity in the coelomocytes of the sea urchin *Paracentrotus lividus*, Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B. Biochem. Mol. Biol., 1996 Mar 113(3): 639-44
- [91] Jones J. B. and Stadtman T. C., *Methanococcus vannielli*: culture and effects of selenium and tungsten on growth, Journal of Bacteriolgy, 1977 Jun 130(3): 1404-1406.
- [92] Nieminen S. M., Kärki R., Auriola S., Toivola M., Laatsch H., Laatikainen R., Hyvärinen A. and von Wright A., Isolation and identification of *Aspergillus fumigatus* mycotoxins on growth medium and some building materials, Applied and environmental microbiology, 2002 Oct 68(10): 4871-4875.
- [93] **Huggett M. J., Williamson J. E., de Nys R., Kjelleberg S.** and **Steinberg P. D.**, Larval settlement of the common Australian sea urchin *Heliocidaris erythrogramma* in response to bacteria from the surface of coralline algae, Oecologia, 2006 Oct 149(4): 604-1.